UC San Diego UC San Diego Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Octet Defying Molecules : : Understanding the Electronic Properties of Carbenes and Isolation of a Stable Nitrene

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/9zn3300k

Author Ellinger, Martin Remi

Publication Date 2014

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, SAN DIEGO

OCTET-DEFYING MOLECULES:

UNDERSTANDING THE ELECTRONIC PROPERTIES OF CARBENES

AND

ISOLATION OF A STABLE NITRENE

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

Chemistry

by

Martin Remi Ellinger

Committee in charge:

Professor Guy Bertrand, Chair Professor Michael Gilson Professor Carlos Guerrero Professor Arnold Rheingold Professor Emmanuel Theodorakis

Copyright Martin Remi Ellinger, 2014 All rights reserved. The Dissertation of Martin Remi Ellinger is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication on microfilm and electronically:

Chair

University of California, San Diego 2014

Signature Page	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Abbreviations	viii
List of Figures	ix
List of Schemes	xi
List of Tables	xii
Acknowledgments	xiii
Vita	xix
Abstract of the Dissertation	xxi
General Introduction	1
Chapter 1: Understanding the Electronic Properties of Carbenes	22
A) Introduction	23
1) Experimental Approach	25
a) Infrared Spectroscopy	26
b) Cyclic Voltammetry	28
c) Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy	29
2) Computational Approach	30
3) Concluding Remarks	31
B) Evaluation of π -accepting properties of carbones	32
1) Design of the scale	32
2) Synthesis of target compounds	33
3) Discussion	35

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	a) Influence of the nature of the carbene substituents	35
	b) Acyclic vs. cyclic carbenes	36
	c) Additional factors in the cyclic series	37
	i) Influence of the ring aromaticity	37
	ii) Influence of the ring size	38
	iii) Influence of the donating abilities of the	
	carbene substituents	38
	d) Sensitivity to steric effects	39
	e) Evaluating non isolable carbenes	40
	f) Deconvolution of σ -donating and π -accepting	
	properties	40
	g) On the possibility of extending the scale to	
	non-carbene ligands	41
C) Conclusion		43
D) Appendix:	Experimental section	50
1) Ger	neral considerations	50
2) Syn	thesis of carbene-phosphinidene adducts	50
3) Cry	stallographic data	59
E) References		60
Chapter 2: Toward the Syn	thesis of New Free Carbenes	67
A) Toward car	benes with increased electrophilicity	68
1) Intr	oduction	68

	2) Synthesis of the precursor and attempts to generate the	
	carbene	
	3) Conclusion	
	B) Toward new carbenes with remote stabilization	
	1) Introduction	
	2) Synthesis of precursors and carbene generation attempts	
	3) Conclusion	
	C) Toward electron rich acyclic carbenes and their potential applications as	
	organic reducing agents	
	1) Introduction	
	2) Synthesis of precursors and carbene generation attempts	
	3)Conclusion	
	D) Conclusions	
	E) Appendix : Experimental section	
	1) General considerations	
	2) Synthesis of precursors	
	a) Toward carbenes with increased electrophilicity	
	b) Toward new carbenes with remote stabilization	
	c) Toward electron rich acyclic carbenes and their potential	
	applications as organic reducing agents	
	F) References	
Chapter 3: A	Stable Singlet Phosphinonitrene	
	A) Introduction	
	B) Synthesis of a stable singlet phosphinonitrene	

C) Conclusion	100
D) Appendix: Experimental section	102
1) General considerations	102
2) Synthesis of target compounds	103
3) Crystallographic data	106
4) Computational details	107
E) References	113
Conclusion	116

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Ad:	1-adamantyl	NaHMDS:	sodium
Ar:	aryl		bis(trimethylsilyl)amide
Cy:	cyclohexyl	n-Bu:	1-butyl
DFT:	Density Functional Theory	NHC:	N-heterocyclic carbene
Dipp:	2,6-diisopropylphenyl	NMR:	Nuclear Magnetic
Et:	ethyl	Resonance	
HOMO:	highest occupied molecular	Ph:	phenyl
	orbital	t-Bu:	tertbutyl
i-Pr:	isopropyl	TEP:	Tolman Electronic
KHMDS:	potassium		Parameter
	bis(trimethylsilyl)amide.	Tf:	trifluoromethanesulfonyl
LDA:	lithium diisopropylamide.	THF:	tetrahydrofuran
LEP:	Lever Electronic Parameter TMS trimethylsilyl		trimethylsilyl
LiHMDS:	lithium		
	bis(trimethylsilyl)amide		
LUMO:	lowest unoccupied		
	molecular orbital		
Me:	methyl		
Mes:	mesityl,		
	2,4,6-trimethylphenyl		
Mes*:	2,4,6-tri(tertbutyl)phenyl		

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure I.1: Lewis structure of a carbene featuring its electron sextet
Figure I.2: Carbene-metal complexes and intermediate in olefin metathesis reaction5
Figure I.3: First isolated carbenes
Figure I.4: Geometry and spin-multiplicity of carbenes
Figure I.5: Electronic factors influencing the spin-multiplicity of carbenes7
Figure I.6: Examples of stable carbenes highlighting their wide variety9
Figure I.7: Analogy between carbenes and metal centers based on their splitting of $H_2.10$
Figure I.8: Products of the activation of small molecules by carbenes
Figure I.9: Unusual metal complexes stabilized by carbenes
Figure I.10: Main group elements allotropes and related species stabilized by carbenes 12
Figure I.11: Examples of highly reactive species stabilized by carbenes and their derivatives
Figure 1.1: A ₁ symmetric stretching vibration and selected factors influencing the electron density on the metal center
Figure 1.2: ¹³ C NMR probe developed by Huynh
Figure 1.3: Influence of the carbene on the ³¹ P chemical shifts of phosphaalkenes32
Figure 1.4: Solid-state structures of (a) 18 PPh and (b) 19 PPh. Ellipsoids are drawn to 50% probability; hydrogen atoms are omitted for clarity. In the case of 19 PPh, only one molecule from the asymmetric unit is shown. Selected angles: a) N-C _{carbene} -P-C _{Ph} = 179.0° b) N-C _{carbene} -P-C _{Ph} = 4.2°
Figure 2.1: Diamido I, diamino II, cyclic (alkyl)(amino) III and cyclic (alkyl)(amido) carbenes IV
Figure 2.2: Cyclopropenylidene Va and its resonance structures showing ring aromaticity and remote stabilization from the nitrogen substituents

Figure 2.3: Resonance structure of carbene VIa and proposed target carbene VII75

Figure 2.4: Phosphenium cation VIIIa and target carbenes of type IX and their respective resonance structures illustrating the p-donation of the carbene-iminato	
substituents	78
Figure 2.5: Carbenes of type IX and carbodiimides IX ²⁺	78
Figure 2.6: Acidic protons of IXc HBF ₄	80
Figure 3.1: Analogy between (a) nitrenes and (b) carbenes	91
Figure 3.2: (a) Metallonitrenes I, (b) aminonitrenes II, (c) phosphinonitrenes III and their relevant resonance structures. Spectroscopically characterized aminonitrenes (d) IIa and (e) IIb	92
Figure 3.3: (a) Analogy between phosphaniminato and carbene-iminato groups and (b) <i>bis</i> -(carbene-iminato)phosphinonitrene	94
Figure 3.4: (a) Irradiation of 6a followed by ³¹ P NMR and (b) ³¹ P NMR spectrum after 5 hours of irradiation	96
Figure 3.5: ³¹ P NMR spectra of the crude mixture after 2 hours of irradiation (254nm) of 6b	97
Figure 3.6: Solid-state structure of 9b . Hydrogen atoms omitted for clarity. Thermal ellipsoids are drawn at 50 % probability	99
Figure 3.7: (a) HOMO, (b) HOMO-1, (c) HOMO-5 calculated at the MO5-2X/TZVPP level of theory, and (d) Localized Lewis structure suggested from the NBO analysis and Wiberg bond order values	100
Figure 3.8: Optimized geometry of 9M . The calculated values of the bond lengths [Å] and angles [degree] are given in parentheses	 108
Figure 3.9: Plot of the two lowest lying unoccupied molecular orbitals (LUMO) and the six highest occupied molecular orbitals (HOMO) of the nitrene 9M' which has N-methe groups.	he ıyl 109
Figure C1: Different π -accepting properties of carbenes according to the ³¹ P NMR chemical shift of their respective carbene-phosphinidene adducts	117

LIST OF SCHEMES

Scheme I.I: Early synthesis attempts and pioneering exploration of carbene reactivity
Scheme I.2: Postulated persistent carbenes
Scheme 1.1: Different reactivities and properties of carbenes
Scheme 1.2: Examples of synthesis of P-phenyl phosphaalkenes
Scheme 2.1: Reactivity of diamido carbene Ia
Scheme 2.2: (a) Synthesis of carbenes I, and (b) Synthesis of carbene precursor IVa'HCl
Scheme 2.3: Attempts toward an activated precursor
Scheme 2.4: (a) Deprotonation and reduction approaches to 5-membered carbenes I reported in the literature, (b) Synthesis of carbene precursors IfCl ₂ and Ig [·] Cl ₂ , and (c) Proposed synthesis of carbene precursors of type IV [·] Cl ₂
Scheme 2.5: Synthesis of precursors VIIa [·] HBF ₄ and VIIa [·] BrBF ₄
Scheme 2.6: Synthesis of precursors IXa [·] HBF ₄ and IXb [·] HBF ₄ 79
Scheme 2.6: Synthesis of precursors IXa [·] HBF ₄ and IXb [·] HBF ₄
Scheme 2.6: Synthesis of precursors IXa'HBF4 and IXb'HBF4
Scheme 2.6: Synthesis of precursors IXa'HBF4 and IXb'HBF4
Scheme 2.6: Synthesis of precursors IXa HBF4 and IXb HBF4
Scheme 2.6: Synthesis of precursors IXa'HBF4 and IXb'HBF4
Scheme 2.6: Synthesis of precursors IXa'HBF4 and IXb'HBF479Scheme 2.7: Synthesis of precursors IXc-fHBF480Scheme 2.8: Alternative outcome to the deprotonation of precursors IX'HBF481Scheme 2.9: Proposed syntheses of (a) carbenes of type XI and (b) their precursors XI'HBF482Scheme 3.1: Reactivity of transient phosphinonitrenes III94Scheme 3.2: Proposed mechanism for the formation of 394Scheme 3.3: Synthesis of 6a95

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Acyclic carbenes 44
Table 1.2: Cyclic carbenes with aromatic cycles 45
Table 1.3: Cyclic carbones with non-aromatic 5-membered cycles
Table 1.4: Cyclic carbenes with non-aromatic 6-membered cycles
Table 1.5: Non-carbene ligands 48
Table 3.1: EDA-NOCV results in kcal/mol for 9M' , which has N-methyl groups (BP86/TZ2P+//M05-2X/TZVPP). Occupation of the fragments: N: doublet $(\sigma^2 p_o^0 p_{all} p_{all} p_{all})^2$; P(N=NHCMe)2: doublet.
Table 3.2: EDA-NOCV results in kcal/mol for 9M' , which has N-methyl groups (BP86/TZ2P+//M05-2X/TZVPP). Occupation of the fragments: N-: triplet $(\sigma^2 p_s^{-1} p_{\pi \perp}^{-1} p_{\pi \parallel}^{-2})$; [P(N=NHCMe)2]- : triplet
Table 3.3: Coordinates [Å] and energies [Hartrees] at M05-2X/def2-TZVPP of the calculated species 9M 111
Table 3.4: Coordinates [Å] and energies [Hartrees] at M05-2X/def2-TZVPP of the calculated species 9M' 112

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank Prof. Carlos Guerrero, Prof. Mike Gilson, Prof. Arnold Rheingold and Prof. Emmanuel Theodorakis for taking the time to evaluate this work.

To Prof. Guy Bertrand... Many people are not equally great at their job and outside of the office; you are not one of them. Your creativity and knowledge are only rivaled by your willingness to help your students in the rest of their careers and your open-mindedness to discuss and understand our situations.

Only one word can best describe the way I feel about those five years in your lab, and I believe it is best said in our native French: Merci.

This lab wouldn't be the same without the French touch provided by the CNRS permanent researchers Michèle Soleilhavoup, David Martin and Mohand Melaïmi. You guys are the heart, arms and living memory of this lab. You transmit the carbene knowledge and the Bertrand lab techniques from one generation of students to the next. It would have been a whole different experience without you.

To Michèle... Thank you for everything. The lab wouldn't function nearly as good without you. Your kindness and ability to pacify situations are an example to all of us. I will miss the after-lunch coffee and cigarette and the discussions that go with it.

To Mo... A few lines wouldn't suffice. From my very first day in the lab, back at UCR, you were here to help. Finding a place, dealing with administrative formalities, in one word, getting set up in the US wouldn't have been the same without your constant availability and willingness to go out of your way to help. We connected quickly, through our shared love of music, concerts that "start and then you're dancing and the next thing

you know, it's an hour and a half later and it's over", sports and our shared values. You are not a colleague; you are a true friend.

I wish to express my deepest gratitude to Prof. Arnold Rheingold and Curtis Moore for their tremendous help with X-ray crystallography and constant availability.

I also thank Anthony Mrse for his help with NMR spectroscopy. I always enjoyed discussing everything and nothing with you, from sports to travel plans, from science to nonsense.

I also would like to thank Prof. Gernot Frenking and the member of his group, especially Mali, for welcoming Gaël and I in Marburg and giving us the chance to discover computational chemistry in one of the leading groups in the field.

Now, on to the grad students and postdocs...

One of the greatest thing about working in this lab was the diversity of good people from all around the world you meet there: Amos, Aholibama, Alan, Emrah, Eugenia, Fatme, Florian, Fred, Jiaxiang, Johanna, Liu, Nicolas, Shigeru, Steffen Xiao-Yu, Xingbang, Jean, Robert, Rei... I did not get the chance to know all of you as much as I would have liked but you definitely were instrumental to make these five years what they have been. Bastien and Maël the last two French invaders... It has been too short a time, but it was a good one.

The first fellow grad student I have to thank has to be Gaël... We came in together in '09 but we'd been on the same path for 3 years already as we met in Paris, on the benches (well... at the K'fet) of Chimie Paris. You were the perfect roommate, a good friend, a beast on the bench and a fearless defender on the soccer field. It was a pleasure to share this experience with you. The next one on the list is another Frenchie and another fellow Chimie Paris alumn: Olivier. Every grad student has his "older" experienced grad student who taught them the little tricks, the do's and don'ts and every other subtlety to being a good experimentalist; you were this person. One last word... Gildas.

Caleb "Jeeeeeesus" Martin arrived a year before the move to San Diego. Hardworking man but not just that. Laughter is what I'll remember.

Gregorio aka *"Tetas"* left shortly before the move to San Diego. I'll always remember to pool games at the Getaway, the discussions about life and everything else. Mi casa es tu casa.

Along with Grego come Daniela and her husband Sean, and Maria and Arturo, thank you guys for allowing me to cross the "Attend a Las Vegas wedding with an Elvis double" item of my bucket list. You guys all rock.

The last members of the "9 guests/5 nationalities" wedding, Fabian "Whaaaaaat" Dielmann, his wife Tania, and his son Samuel. Fabian, I'll remember the discussion about science, your "life" advices, the "how many legs do you have?" soccer games, and the "mehr Wasser" beach sessions.

One of the latest encounters: Liqun Jin. Kindness and smile. It was a pleasure to work with you.

The newest grad students, Cory, Janell and Daniel. Keep up the good work. It was a blast sharing a little portion of life with you guys. Cory, don't worry the Sharks will beat LA eventually. Whenever you discover amazing new music, pass it on; I'll do the same.

Last but so far from least, the two Davids.

David "A....., F....." W. The other "older" experienced grad student. You came in a year before me, we get out at the same time. You definitely are the reason I finally understand and like baseball. From discussing the Phillies batting order to gambling away on the casino floors, I'll remember our time together with a smile and a laugh.

Finally, I wish to express my thanks to all those outside of work.

First, to my family. For their support, through thick as in thin, time and time again...

Family is not just blood. To the B-City crew, I wore the colors high and proud on my labcoat for two years; I'll wear them in my heart for the rest of my life.

Then to my friends. To Robert and Jean-Hugues, who allowed the essential sanity-maintaining routine of the last year at Riverside: Friday night dinner at Robert's, Saturday night pool games at the Yankee Doodles, Santa Monica and Sunday morning Manhattan Beach surf session with Jean-Hugues.

And to new crew, the icing on the cake that is beautiful, sunny San Diego. Mathieu H., first night in SD, first good people. GroB, Mathieu M. and Nico, the Saturday morning Blacks crew. Many good sessions, and I hope many more to come. Chapter 1 has been adapted from materials published in O. Back, M. Henry-Ellinger, C. D. Martin, D. Martin and G. Bertrand, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 2939-2943. The dissertation author actively participated in this project.s

Chapter 3 has been adapted from materials published in F. Dielmann, O. Back, M. Henry-Ellinger, P. Jerabek, G. Frenking, G. Bertrand, *Science*, **2012**, *337*, 1526-1528. The dissertation author actively participated in this project.

VITA

Education

2014:	Ph.D. in Chemi	istry, PI: Prof. Guy Bertrand
	2012-present:	University of California, San Diego
	2009-2012:	University of California, Riverside (GPA: 4.0)

- 2009: **M. Sc.** in **Organic Chemistry** at the Université Pierre et Marie Curie (Paris, France)
 - Academic oriented training in organic and bioorganic chemistry
- 2006-2009: "Diplôme d'Ingénieur ENSCP" at École Nationale Supérieure de Chimie de Paris (Chimie ParisTech, Paris, France)

Problem-solving oriented training in chemistry (organic, inorganic, analytical, chemical engineering), conferring the same rights as an international MSc in Chemical Sciences and Engineering

Work Experience

Industrial Experience

- Mar.-July 2008: Sanofi-Aventis (Vitry-Sur-Seine, France): Industrial Internship • Worked on solvent replacement for the production of Zopiclone to
 - comply with regulatory accreditation of the new production site
 - Modified the conditions for the production of Ketoprofen resulting in the reduction by 90% of the benzene load in the process

Academic Research Experience

- 2009-2014: UCSD-CNRS (San Diego, CA) and UCR-CNRS (Riverside, CA): Research Assistant
- Apr.-May 2011: Fachbereich Chemie, AG Frenking (Phillips-Universität, Marburg, Germany): Visiting Scholar
- Feb.-July 2009: Laboratoire Charles Friedel (UMR CNRS 7223, ENSCP, Paris, France): MSc practical internship
- Oct.-Nov. 2007: Laboratoire de Chimie et Biochimie des Complexes Moléculaires (UMR CNRS 7576, ENSCP, Paris, France): Undergraduate research

Teaching Experience

2009-2014: **Teaching Assistant**, undergraduate **Organic Chemistry**

UCSD: CHEM140A Winter 2013, Winter 2014, Spring 2014

- Developed problem sets and taught weekly discussion sessions for undergraduate students
- Participated in the design of examinations and graded midterm and final examinations

UCR: CHEM112A: Fall 2009, Winter 2010, Winter 2011, Winter 2012

- CHEM112B: Spring 2010
- Taught weekly laboratory classes supervising 20 students per section

Skills and Qualifications

- Area of expertise: Organic chemistry, organometallic chemistry, inorganic chemistry
- Specialized expertise: Carbene chemistry, heterocyclic chemistry, synthesis and handling of highly reactive species, wet chemistry, kg-scale synthesis, inert-atmosphere techniques (, analysis and characterization of molecules (NMR (¹H, ¹³C, ¹¹B, ¹⁹F, ³¹P), MS, LC/MS, GC/MS, GC, UV-vis, cyclovoltametry, X-Ray diffraction analysis), purification of molecules (flash chromatography, crystallisation, distillation, sublimation, HPLC)
- **Proficient in Computing:** ChemOffice, Gaussian and ADF software packages, NMR software (Jeol Delta, Brucker Topspin, Varian Vnmr), X-Ray diffraction solving software (Olex)
- Languages: Native French

Publications

1. "Rearrangement of 2,5-bis(silylated)-N-Boc Pyrroles into the Corresponding 2,4-Species"

J.-H. Mirebeau, M. Haddad, M. Henry-Ellinger, G. Jaouen, J. Louvel, F. Le Bideau, J. Org. Chem., 2009, 74, 8890

 "A Crystalline Singlet Phosphinonitrene: A Nitrogen Atom–Transfer Agent"
 F. Dielmann, O. Back, M. Henry-Ellinger, P. Jerabek, G. Frenking, G. Bertrand, Science, 2012, 337, 1526

Highlighted in: "Stabilized Transient R2PN Species"

A. Schulz, A. Villinger, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 2013, 52, 3068

3. "³¹P-NMR Chemical Shifts of Carbene–Phosphinidene Adducts as an Indicator of the π-Accepting Properties of Carbenes"
O. Back, M. Henry-Ellinger, C.D. Martin, D. Martin, G. Bertrand, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 2013, 52, 2939

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

OCTET-DEFYING MOLECULES:

UNDERSTANDING THE ELECTRONIC PROPERTIES OF CARBENES

AND

ISOLATION OF A STABLE NITRENE

by

Martin Remi Ellinger

Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry

University of California, San Diego, 2014

Professor Guy Bertrand, Chair

For a long time, carbenes were considered as intermediates so reactive that their isolation was deemed impossible. From the seminal works of Curtius and Staudinger to their isolation as stable molecules, carbenes led to tremendous advances in numerous fields of chemistry, from synthetic applications such as organocatalysis and transition metal chemistry, to advances in the fields of medicine and materials. In addition, a paradigm shift recently emerged with the use of stable carbenes for the activation of small molecules and the stabilization of highly reactive species, an infringement on a domain that remained exclusive to transition metal complexes. The wide scope of application of carbenes is intrinsically related to the extremely varied yet uncommon electron configuration and the understanding of the latter is of critical importance. The first part of this manuscript describes the development of a simple and inexpensive experimental method to probe the electronic properties of carbenes. The ³¹P NMR spectrometry of carbene-phosphinidene adducts allows the assessment of the π -accepting abilities of carbenes, and by correlation with other experimental probes, the deconvolution of σ -donating and π -accepting properties. With this knowledge in mind, we will attempt to extend the scope of known stable carbenes through the development of new carbene families. Finally, we will apply our understanding of carbene stabilization mechanisms to the arduous quest for their nitrogen analogs, the so-far elusive nitrenes. Almost three decades after the isolation of the first stable carbene, a phosphinocarbene, we will report the synthesis of the first stable phosphinonitrene. This last part is a perfect example of the use of carbenes and their derivatives to stabilize highly reactive species, illustrating the previously mentioned paradigm shift.

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

In 1835, Dumas and Péligot¹ reported their attempts to synthesize the molecule of methylene CH_2 (Scheme I.1). Their approach was based on dehydrating methanol in the presence of compounds likely to trap the eliminated water molecule. Methylene is the parent compound of a family of molecules called carbenes. These are neutral compounds featuring a divalent carbon atom. This atom features a sextet of electrons, four from the two single bonds with its substituents and two unpaired electrons (Figure I.1).

Figure I.1: Lewis structure of a carbene featuring its electron sextet

To the extent of chemical understanding at this time, methylene was a likely target as it respected the principle of electroneutrality. However, carbenes would soon be considered non-viable species. Extending on the work of Lewis,² Langmuir would actually dismiss the idea of the very existence of CH_2 .³ According to Langmuir's *reductio ad absurdum*, in order for the carbon atom of CH_2 to achieve an octet of electrons, it would need to form a bond with another atom. However, no other partner is available, and therefore the carbon atom would need to form a bond with itself, which is obviously impossible. Langmuir's findings temporarily sealed the fate of carbenes as impossible structures, which defied the bonding of atoms as explained by the theories of this period.

Despite being considered impossible to synthesize, carbenes were postulated as intermediates in several reactions (Scheme I.1). Geuther⁴ first proposed dichloromethylene CCl₂ as the key intermediate in the alkaline hydrolysis of chloroform. Curtius⁵⁻⁸ and Staudinger⁹⁻¹² then reinforced this idea working with diazo compounds and ketenes. Later on, Doering extended the study of carbenes highlighting their usefulness as synthons,¹³⁻¹⁷ but also their incredibly high reactivity. By reacting methylene with *n*-

pentane and observing a statistical mixture of hexane isomers, Doering came to conclude that "Methylene must be classed as the most indiscriminate reagent known in organic chemistry".¹⁶



Scheme I.1: Early synthesis attempts and pioneering exploration of carbene reactivity

Thanks to these discoveries, carbenes would evolve from being considered as non-viable entities to highly reactive intermediates, which are powerful tools for the synthetic chemist. Soon, Breslow¹⁸ and Wanzlick¹⁹ would add a new milestone on the way to understanding carbenes (Scheme I.2). Breslow, modeling the action of thiamin, proposed that thiazolium-salt-catalyzed bezoin and acetoin condensation reactions could be explained through the involvement of a persistent thiazolylidene carbene. Wanzlick later proposed that a diaminocarbene was in equilibrium with its dimer, which explained the reactivity of the dimer as a carbene source. These efforts shifted the opinion on carbenes as they were shown to be useful organocatalysts and controllable reagents.





Although carbenes were still non-isolable compounds, Fischer showed that they could be tamed when coordinated to a metal center.²⁰ Subsequent efforts by Öfele²¹ and Lappert²² reinforced the idea that carbenes could be used as ligands for transition metal complexes. In the meantime, Chauvin²³ was proposing carbene complexes as key intermediates in the mechanism of olefin metathesis, a reaction of industrial importance (Figure I.2).

Encouraged by these discoveries and driven by a need for better understanding of carbenes and for a more versatile ligand platform, chemists tackled the challenge of isolating a stable carbene free of metal coordination.





This quest would come to an end almost two decades later when Bertrand reported a stable (phosphino)(silyl)carbene.²⁴⁻²⁷ Later efforts from Arduengo²⁸ and Enders²⁹ confirmed that through careful tuning of the substituents at the carbene carbon atom, such molecules could not only be isolated but even made crystalline (Figure I.3).



Figure I.3: First isolated carbenes

In the meantime, carbenes were also the object of the curiosity of theoretical and physical chemists as they defied the "octet rule". A tremendous amount of computational and physical studies deeply improved our understanding of carbenes.³⁰⁻⁴⁵

Carbenes can exist in two geometries: linear or bent. The geometry of the carbene influences its orbitals as each form can be described as having a differently hybridized carbon center. In the linear form, the carbene center is sp-hybridized. Two degenerate hybrid sp-orbitals are involved in the formation of covalent bonds with the substituents and therefore two degenerate p-orbitals are left non-bonding. In the bent form, the carbene center is sp²-hybridized. Two hybrid sp²-orbitals are involved in the formation of covalent bonds with the substituents. The two non-bonding orbitals consist of a sp² orbital, which will be referred as the σ -orbital, and a p-orbital (Figure I.4).

Due to their electron sextet, carbenes can exist in two electronic states. In the singlet state, the two unshared electrons are of opposite spin and are paired in a same orbital, leaving one vacant. In the triplet state, the two electrons possess the same spin and therefore lie in two different orbitals. The spin-multiplicity has a tremendous influence on a carbene stability and reactivity.^{40,46-48} Indeed, a wide variety of stable singlet carbenes are now known whereas triplet carbenes can only be observed as short-lived intermediates with half-lives of a few days at most.⁴⁶⁻⁵⁰



Figure I.4: Geometry and spin-multiplicity of carbenes

Spin multiplicity is dependent on a variety of factors. As mentioned previously, geometry has a significant effect on the orbitals of the carbene center. Indeed steric crowding of the substituents can force a linear geometry. Linear carbenes, in the absence of electronic factors, will tend to be triplet molecules, whereas bent carbenes favor the singlet state. However, substituents also influence the carbene multiplicity through inductive and mesomeric effects (Figure I.5).



Figure I.5: Electronic factors influencing the spin-multiplicity of carbenes

Inductive substituents mainly affect the σ -system, whereas mesomeric effects will influence the π -system. In fact, inductive attracting substituents will favor a bent singlet state due to the stabilization of the σ -orbital, whereas inductive donating substituents will favor a linear triplet state. The combination of two π -donating substituents will stabilize the empty orbital of the bent singlet carbene, while two π -attracting substituents will favor linear geometries. Both triplet and singlet states can be stabilized depending on orbital alignment: if the two π -attracting orbitals are parallel, a singlet state will be favored whereas if they are perpendicular, a triplet state is postulated. However, no carbene with two π -attracting substituents has ever been isolated. The combination of one π -attracting substituent and one π -donating substituent will favor a linear singlet carbene. Thanks to this new understanding of the mechanism of carbene stabilization, a plethora of stable singlet carbenes have been developed.^{40,51-61} Stable carbenes were isolated in both acyclic and cyclic forms (Figure I.6). Cyclic carbenes were found to be better ligands for metal complexes^{57,62,63} and therefore were much more widely studied than their acyclic counterparts. Acyclic carbenes can only be tuned through the nature of the carbene substituents, whereas cyclic carbenes vary not only in the number and nature of their heteroatomic substituents, but also through the ring size and the backbone functionalities. Finally, a new class of ligands called abnormal and mesoionic carbenes were developed.^{64,65} The latter name comes from the impossibility of a resonance structure featuring a carbene without unreasonable charge separation. Nevertheless, these compounds share many similarities with classical carbenes as they can be used as ligands and organocatalysts.⁶⁵⁻⁷⁴

The development of stable carbenes led to tremendous advances in the field of catalysis, be it organometallic catalysis or organocatalysis.^{57,75-79} However, this area of carbene chemistry is not the topic of this manuscript and shall not be further developed.

Stable Singlet Acyclic Carbenes

Different substitution patterns



Stable Singlet Cyclic Carbenes

Different number of heteroatomic substituents



Different heteroatomic substituents



Different ring sizes N N N N N N N N N

Different backbone functionalities



Abnormal and mesoionic carbenes



Figure I.6: Examples of stable carbenes highlighting their wide variety

One of the main advantages of carbenes is the tunability of their electronic properties and assessing the latter has been the object of numerous efforts.^{54,59-61,80-83} Most stable singlet carbenes are good σ -donors but the σ -system is not easily modulated. However, through modification of the nature and number of substituents and the backbone functionalities of the carbene, their π -accepting ability is extremely tunable.

A new paradigm shift was introduced by Bertrand⁸⁴ when observing the splitting of dihydrogen and ammonia by (alkyl)(amino)carbenes. It was reasoned that they could mimic metal centers, as they both possess filled and empty orbitals conferring them amphiphilic reactivities.



Figure I.7: Analogy between carbenes and metal centers based on their splitting of H₂

This discovery led to considerable developments as carbenes were used to activate small molecules such as H_2 , NH_3 and P_4 to name only a few (Figure I.8).^{40,84-89}

Carbenes, through their peculiar electronic and steric properties, were also used as ligands for unusual metal complexes (Figure I.9). Noteworthy are a few coordinatively unsaturated complexes as well as some formal zero-degree oxidation state complexes.⁹⁰⁻⁹³



Figure I.8: Products of the activation of small molecules by carbenes



Coordinatively unsaturated metal complexes

Formal zero-degree oxidation metal complexes

Figure I.9: Unusual metal complexes stabilized by carbenes

Carbenes also have had a tremendous impact in the field of main group chemistry. They allowed the isolation of numerous compounds that can be viewed as formal complexes of soluble allotropes of main group elements as well as their derivatives of different oxidation states (Figure I.10).^{85,86,88,94-107} Most of those allotropes eluded isolation as their corresponding non-carbene-stabilized form so far. For most of them, it is due to the fact that they are predicted as unstable compounds.^{100,104,108,109}











Pn: N, P, As

Pn: P, As



Figure I.10: Main group elements allotropes and related species stabilized by carbenes

ı2+

Species stabilized by carbenes



Figure I.11: Examples of highly reactive species stabilized by carbenes and their derivatives

Although it seems counter intuitive that such unstable compounds could be stabilized by carbenes, molecules once similarly considered unstable, the latter and their derivatives proved to be powerful tools for the isolation and characterization of numerous radicals, radical ions and other octet-defying compounds such as borylenes, phosphinidenes and nitrenes (Figure I.11).^{100,103,110-119}

In this manuscript, we will try to improve our understanding of the electronic properties of carbenes through the design of a π -accepting ability scale based on the ³¹P NMR spectrum of carbene-phosphinidene adducts. This will be explored in Chapter 1. In Chapter 2, we will discuss our attempts at synthesizing carbenes with new electronic properties. Finally, in Chapter 3, we will use carbene derivatives to stabilize a long sought target in our group, namely a stable phosphinonitrene.
References

- (1) Dumas, J.; Peligot, E. M. Ann Chim Phys **1835**, 58, 5–74.
- (2) Lewis, G. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1916, 38, 762–785.
- (3) Langmuir, I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1919, 41, 868–934.
- (4) Geuther, A. Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1862, 123, 121–122.
- (5) Curtius, T. Chem. Ber. **1884**, *17*, 959–960.
- (6) Curtius, T. Chem. Ber. **1884**, 17, 953–959.
- (7) Buchner, E.; Curtius, T. *Chem. Ber.* **1885**, *18*, 2371–2377.
- (8) Buchner, E.; Curtius, T. *Chem. Ber.* **1885**, *18*, 2377–2379.
- (9) Staudinger, H.; Kupfer, O. Chem. Ber. 1911, 44, 2194–2197.
- (10) Staudinger, H.; Kupfer, O. Chem. Ber. 1911, 44, 2197–2212.
- (11) Staudinger, H.; Kupfer, O. Chem. Ber. **1912**, 45, 501–509.
- (12) Staudinger, H.; Endle, R. *Chem. Ber.* **1913**, *46*, 1437–1442.
- (13) Doering, von, W. E.; Knox, L. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1950, 72, 2305–2306.
- (14) Doering, von, W. E.; Knox, L. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1953**, 75, 297–303.
- (15) Doering, von, W. E.; Hoffmann, A. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1954, 76, 6162–6165.
- (16) Doering, von, W. E.; Buttery, R. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1956.
- (17) Doering, von, W. E.; Henderson, W. A., Jr. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1958**, 80, 5274–5277.
- (18) Breslow, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1958.
- (19) Wanzlick, H. W. Angewandte Chemie **1962**, *74*, 129–134.
- (20) Fischer, E. O.; Maasböl, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1964, 3, 580–581.
- (21) Ofele, K. J. Organomet. Chem. 1968, 12, P42–P43.
- (22) Cardin, D. J.; Cetinkay, B.; Lappert, M. F.; Manojlov, L.; Muir, K. W. J. Chem.

Soc. D 1971, 400–401.

- (23) Hérisson, J.-L.; Chauvin, Y. Makromol. Chem. 1971, 141, 161–176.
- (24) Baceiredo, A.; Bertrand, G.; Sicard, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1985**, 107, 4781–4783.
- (25) Igau, A.; Grutzmacher, H.; Baceiredo, A.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1988**, *110*, 6463–6466.
- (26) Igau, A.; Baceiredo, A.; Trinquier, G.; Bertrand, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **1989**, 28, 621–622.
- (27) Kato, T.; Gornitzka, H.; Baceiredo, A.; Savin, A.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 998–999.
- (28) Arduengo, A. J.; Harlow, R. L.; Kline, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 361– 363.
- (29) Enders, D.; Breuer, K.; Raabe, G.; Runsink, J.; Teles, J. H.; Melder, J. P.; Ebel, K.; Brode, S. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1995, 34, 1021–1023.
- (30) Hoffmann, R.; Zeiss, G. D.; Van Dine, G. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 1485–1499.
- (31) Harrison, J. F.; Allen, L. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1969, 91, 807–823.
- (32) Harrison, J. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, 93, 4112–4119.
- (33) Schoeller, W. W. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1980, 124–125.
- (34) Pauling, L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1980, 688–689.
- (35) Brauer, B. E.; Grasse, P. B.; Kaufmann, K. J.; Schuster, G. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1982**, *104*, 6814–6816.
- (36) Budzelaar, P. H. M.; Schleyer, P. V. R.; Krogh Jespersen, K. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1984, 23, 825–826.
- (37) Chuang, C.; Lapin, S. C.; Schrock, A. K.; Schuster, G. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1985**, *107*, 4238–4243.
- (38) Irikura, K. K.; Goddard, W. A.; Beauchamp, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1992**, *114*, 48–51.

- (39) Boehme, C.; Frenking, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2039–2046.
- (40) Bourissou, D.; Guerret, O.; Gabbai, F. P.; Bertrand, G. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 39–91.
- (41) Scott, A. P.; Platz, M. S.; Radom, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 6069–6076.
- (42) Budzelaar, P. H. M.; Krogh Jespersen, K.; Clark, T.; R Schleyer, von, P. J. Am. *Chem. Soc.* **1985**, *107*, 2773–2779.
- (43) Dorta, R.; Stevens, E. D.; Scott, N. M.; Costabile, C.; Cavallo, L.; Hoff, C. D.; Nolan, S. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 2485–2495.
- (44) Ionescu, E.; Reid, S. A. J. Mol. Struct.: THEOCHEM 2005, 725, 45–53.
- (45) Gerbig, D.; Ley, D. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev.: Comput. Mol. Sci. 2013, 3, 242–272.
- (46) Tomioka, H. Acc. Chem. Res. **1997**, *30*, 315–321.
- (47) Kirmse, W. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 2117–2119.
- (48) Hirai, K.; Itoh, T.; Tomioka, H. *Chem. Rev.* **2009**, *109*, 3275–3332.
- (49) Tomioka, H.; Iwamoto, E.; Itakura, H.; Hirai, K. Nat. Chem. 2001, 412, 626–628.
- (50) Iwamoto, E.; Hirai, K.; Tomioka, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 14664–14665.
- (51) Canac, Y.; Soleilhavoup, M.; Conejero, S.; Bertrand, G. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **2004**, *689*, 3857–3865.
- (52) Hahn, F. E.; Jahnke, M. C. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 3122–3172.
- (53) Vignolle, J.; Cattoen, X.; Bourissou, D. Chem. Rev. 2009, 109, 3333–3384.
- (54) Gusev, D. G. Organometallics **2009**, *28*, 6458–6461.
- (55) Tapu, D.; Dixon, D. A.; Roe, C. Chem. Rev. 2009, 109, 3385–3407.
- (56) Melaimi, M.; Soleilhavoup, M.; Bertrand, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 8810–8849.
- (57) Martin, D.; Melaimi, M.; Soleilhavoup, M.; Bertrand, G. Organometallics

2011, *30*, 5304–5313.

- (58) Martin, D.; Soleilhavoup, M.; Bertrand, G. Chem. Sci. 2011, 2, 389–399.
- (59) Phukan, A. K.; Guha, A. K.; Sarmah, S.; Dewhurst, R. D. J. Org. Chem. 2013, 78, 11032–11039.
- (60) Bernhammer, J. C.; Frison, G.; Huynh, H. V. Chem. Eur. J. 2013, 19, 12892– 12905.
- (61) Nelson, D. J.; Nolan, S. P. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2013**, *42*, 6723.
- (62) Schoeller, W. W.; Eisner, D.; Grigoleit, S.; Rozhenko, A. B.; Alijah, A. J. Am. *Chem. Soc.* **2000**, *122*, 10115–10120.
- (63) Schoeller, W. W.; Rozhenko, A. J. B.; Alijah, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 2001, 617-618, 435-443.
- (64) Aldeco-Perez, E.; Rosenthal, A. J.; Donnadieu, B.; Parameswaran, P.; Frenking, G.; Bertrand, G. *Science* **2009**, *326*, 556–559.
- (65) Guisado-Barrios, G.; Bouffard, J.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2010**, 49, 4759–4762.
- (66) Arnold, P. L.; Pearson, S. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2007**, *251*, 596–609.
- (67) Mathew, P.; Neels, A.; Albrecht, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 13534– 13535.
- (68) Schuster, O.; Yang, L.; Raubenheimer, H. G.; Albrecht, M. Chem. Rev. 2009, 109, 3445–3478.
- (69) Araki, S.; Yokoi, K.; Sato, R.; Hirashita, T.; Setsune, J.-I. *J. Heterocycl. Chem.* **2009**, *46*, 164–171.
- (70) Sen, T. K.; Sau, S. C.; Mukherjee, A.; Modak, A.; Mandal, S. K.; Koley, D. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 11972.
- (71) Krüger, A.; Albrecht, M. Aust. J. Chem. 2011, 64, 1113.
- (72) Ohmatsu, K.; Kiyokawa, M.; Ooi, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133, 1307–1309.
- (73) Crabtree, R. H. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2013, 257, 755–766.
- (74) Donnelly, K. F.; Petronilho, A.; Albrecht, M. Chem. Commun. 2013, 49, 1145.

- (75) Diez-Gonzalez, S.; Marion, N.; Nolan, S. P. Chem. Rev. 2009, 109, 3612–3676.
- (76) Samojłowicz, C.; Bieniek, M.; Grela, K. *Chem. Rev.* **2009**, *109*, 3708–3742.
- (77) Monfette, S.; Fogg, D. E. *Chem. Rev.* **2009**, *109*, 3783–3816.
- (78) Alcaide, B.; Almendros, P.; Luna, A. *Chem. Rev.* **2009**, *109*, 3817–3858.
- (79) Vougioukalakis, G. C.; Grubbs, R. H. *Chem. Rev.* **2010**, *110*, 1746–1787.
- (80) Herrmann, W. A.; Schutz, J.; Frey, G. D.; Herdtweck, E. *Organometallics* **2006**, *25*, 2437–2448.
- (81) Kausamo, A.; Tuononen, H. M.; Krahulic, K. E.; Roesler, R. *Inorg. Chem.* **2008**, *47*, 1145–1154.
- (82) Dröge, T.; Glorius, F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 6940–6952.
- (83) Ung, G.; Bertrand, G. Chem. Eur. J. 2011, 17, 8269–8272.
- (84) Frey, G. D.; Lavallo, V.; Donnadieu, B.; Schoeller, W. W.; Bertrand, G. *Science* **2007**, *316*, 439–441.
- (85) Masuda, J. D.; Schoeller, W. W.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 14180–14181.
- (86) Back, O.; Kuchenbeiser, G.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 5530–5533.
- (87) Tskhovrebov, A. G.; Solari, E.; Wodrich, M. D.; Scopelliti, R.; Severin, K. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2011**, *51*, 232–234.
- (88) Martin, C. D.; Weinstein, C. M.; Moore, C. E.; Rheingold, A. L.; Bertrand, G. *Chem. Commun.* **2013**, *49*, 4486–4488.
- (89) Tskhovrebov, A. G.; Vuichoud, B.; Solari, E.; Scopelliti, R.; Severin, K. J. Am. *Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135*, 9486–9492.
- (90) Lavallo, V.; Canac, Y.; DeHope, A.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. Angew. *Chem. Int. Ed.* **2005**, *44*, 7236–7239.
- (91) Weinberger, D. S.; Melaimi, M.; Moore, C. E.; Rheingold, A. L.; Frenking, G.; Jerabek, P.; Bertrand, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 8964–8967.
- (92) Singh, A. P.; Samuel, P. P.; Roesky, H. W.; Schwarzer, M. C.; Frenking, G.;

Sidhu, N. S.; Dittrich, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2013, 135, 7324–7329.

- (93) Samuel, P. P.; Mondal, K. C.; Roesky, H. W.; Hermann, M.; Frenking, G.; Demeshko, S.; Meyer, F.; Stückl, A. C.; Christian, J. H.; Dalal, N. S.; Ungur, L.; Chibotaru, L. F.; Pröpper, K.; Meents, A.; Dittrich, B. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 11817–11821.
- (94) Dyker, C. A.; Bertrand, G. *Science* **2008**, *321*, 1050–1051.
- Wang, Y.; Xie, Y.; Wei, P.; King, R. B.; Schaefer, H. F., III; R Schleyer, von,
 P.; Robinson, G. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 14970–14971.
- (96) Wang, Y.; Xie, Y.; Wei, P.; King, R. B.; Schaefer, H. F.; R Schleyer, von, P.; Robinson, G. H. Science 2008, 321, 1069–1071.
- (97) Sidiropoulos, A.; Jones, C.; Stasch, A.; Klein, S.; Frenking, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 9701–9704.
- (98) Back, O.; Donnadieu, B.; Parameswaran, P.; Frenking, G.; Bertrand, G. *Nat. Chem.* 2010.
- (99) Kinjo, R.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 5930– 5933.
- (100) Wang, Y.; Robinson, G. H. *Inorg. Chem.* **2011**, *50*, 12326–12337.
- (101) Wang, Y.; Robinson, G. H. *Dalton Trans.* **2011**, *41*, 337.
- (102) Abraham, M. Y.; Wang, Y.; Xie, Y.; Gilliard, R. J., Jr.; Wei, P.; Vaccaro, B. J.; Johnson, M. K.; Schaefer, H. F., III; R Schleyer, von, P.; Robinson, G. H. J. *Am. Chem. Soc.* 2013, *135*, 2486–2488.
- (103) Mondal, K. C.; Roesky, H. W.; Schwarzer, M. C.; Frenking, G.; Tkach, I.; Wolf, H.; Kratzert, D.; Herbst-Irmer, R.; Niepötter, B.; Stalke, D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 52, 1801–1805.
- (104) Wilson, D. J. D.; Dutton, J. L. Chem. Eur. J. 2013, 19, 13626–13637.
- (105) Chase, D. T.; Moerdyk, J. P.; Bielawski, C. W. Org. Lett. 2014, 16, 812–815.
- Li, Y.; Mondal, K. C.; Samuel, P. P.; Zhu, H.; Orben, C. M.; Panneerselvam, S.; Dittrich, B.; Schwederski, B.; Kaim, W.; Mondal, T.; Koley, D.; Roesky, H. W. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2014, 53, 4168–4172.
- (107) Jin, L.; Melaimi, M.; Liu, L.; Bertrand, G. Org. Chem. Front. 2014, 1, 351-

354.

- (108) Van Zee, R. J.; Ferrante, R. F.; Weltner, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1985, 83, 6181–6187.
- (109) Scheer, M.; Balazs, G.; Seitz, A. Chem. Rev. 2010, 110, 4236–4256.
- (110) Ghadwal, R. S.; Roesky, H. W.; Merkel, S.; Henn, J.; Stalke, D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 5683–5686.
- Back, O.; Celik, M. A.; Frenking, G.; Melaimi, M.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132, 10262–10263.
- (112) Back, O.; Donnadieu, B.; Hopffgarten, von, M.; Klein, S.; Tonner, R.; Frenking, G.; Bertrand, G. Chem. Sci. 2011, 2, 858–861.
- (113) Kinjo, R.; Donnadieu, B.; Celik, M. A.; Frenking, G.; Bertrand, G. *Science* **2011**, *333*, 610–613.
- (114) Martin, C. D.; Soleilhavoup, M.; Bertrand, G. Chem. Sci. 2013, 4, 3020.
- (115) Ruiz, D. A.; Ung, G.; Melaimi, M.; Bertrand, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 7590–7592.
- (116) Mahoney, J. K.; Martin, D.; Moore, C. E.; Rheingold, A. L.; Bertrand, G. J. *Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135*, 18766–18769.
- (117) Martin, D.; Moore, C. E.; Rheingold, A. L.; Bertrand, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 7014–7017.
- (118) Yao, S.; Xiong, Y.; Driess, M. Chem. Commun. 2009, 6466.
- (119) Xiong, Y.; Yao, S.; Driess, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 7562–7563.

CHAPTER 1:

Understanding the Electronic Properties of Carbenes

Adapted from:

O. Back, M. Henry-Ellinger, C. D. Martin, D. Martin and G. Bertrand,

Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 2939-2943

A) Introduction

Since the seminal work of Breslow,¹ carbenes were established as excellent organocatalysts for several reactions. Indeed, one of the first application of carbene I was as a catalyst for the benzoin-type condensation of formaldehyde into glycolaldehyde (Scheme 1.1).² Since then stable carbenes have found numerous applications in the field of organocatalysis.³⁻¹⁰ However, not all stable carbenes are effective in such catalysis. For example, when carbene II is subjected to an excess of benzaldehyde, no benzoin is formed. Instead, a stoechiometric reaction takes place resulting in the isolation of the the insertion product of II into the C-H bond of the aldehyde group (Scheme 1.1).¹¹

Such different reactivities are not limited to the field of organocatalysis. Cyclic (alkyl)(amino) carbenes (CAACs) such as **III** react with carbon monoxyde (CO) to give a ketene¹² whereas the so-called N-heterocyclic carbenes (NHCs) such as **IV** do not (Scheme 1.1).¹³

In main-group chemistry, carbene-stabilized P₂ adducts exhibit different properties depending on the stabilizing carbene. The cyclic voltamogram of the adduct stabilized by carbene V displays only one one-electron oxidation wave at $E_{1/2} = -0.536$ V, whereas, if carbene VI is the stabilizing partner, two one-electron oxidation waves are observed at $E_{1/2} = -0.178$ V and $E_{1/2} = -1.408$ V, respectively.¹⁴

As ligands in transition metal-complexes, carbenes also exhibit different abilities. A good example of these differences is the palladium-catalyzed α -arylation of ketones. In fact, coupling of chlorobenzene with propiophenone is accomplished quantitatively in an hour at room temperature by catalyst **(III)-Pd(allyl)Cl** featuring carbene **III**,¹⁵ whereas, when III is replaced by VI, a temperature of 70°C is required to achieve similar yields in the same time frame (Scheme 1.1).¹⁶



Scheme 1.1: Different reactivities and properties of carbenes

Regardless of the field of interest, understanding the causes for such different properties is of tremendous importance. Indeed, such differences cannot be attributed only to different steric environments. For example, in the reaction or absence thereof between carbon monoxide and carbenes III and IV, respectively, CO is a small enough molecule to access both carbene centers, thus other factors must be in play. In fact, calculations by Bertrand¹¹ on the model reaction between carbenes and isocyanides, as molecules isoelectronic to CO, showed that more electrophilic carbenes such as III can stabilize the adduct thanks to their pronounced π -accepting ability, whereas imidazol-2ylidenes such as IV could not stabilize the adduct. The reaction between the model imidazol-2-ylidene and isocyanide was even predicted to be thermodynamically disfavored with a Δ G value of +5.6 kcal/mol.

In order to understand carbenes properties, be it as reagents, as organocatalysts, or as ligands for main-group elements or transition metals, one must understand their peculiar electronic situation. Several methods have been developed to assess this issue, relying both on experimental and computational observations.

1) Experimental Approach:

The understanding of ligand properties has been a longstanding issue in organometallic catalysis. A variety of methods were developed to solve this problem, relying on various experimental techniques.

a) Infrared Spectroscopy

The first widely used method of characterizing ligands electronic properties was introduced by Tolman in 1977.¹⁷ The Tolman Electronic Parameter (TEP) was first introduced for phosphine ligands. The TEP value for a given L ligand is defined as the infrared (IR) frequency of the symmetrical A₁ stretching vibration of the carbonyl (CO) ligands of the nickel complex $Ni(L)(CO)_3$ in dichloromethane (Figure 1.1). The TEP value correlates with the strength of the CO bonds in the complex, which is directly influenced by the electron density at the Ni center. A simple approach to understanding TEP values relies on the fact that the Ni-CO bonds can be described as consisting of two terms: the σ -donation of the carbon lone pair of the CO ligands into the metal center and the π -back-donation of the metal center into the π^* -antibonding orbital of the CO ligands. Indeed, the more electron-donating the L ligand is, the more electron rich the nickel center and therefore the more pronounced the back-donation into the π^* -antibonding orbital becomes. As a result, the CO bonds are weakened and the A₁ stretching frequency is shifted towards the red (*i.e.* smaller wavenumbers). Indeed the smaller the TEP value, the better donor the ligand will be (Figure 1.1). TEP values were recorded for a wide variety of ligands, including carbenes.¹⁸

However this analysis assumes that the L ligand influences the metal center mostly by σ -donation. While this assumption was historically logical, as phosphines were considered purely σ -donor ligands, it was later proved that phosphines were capable of accepting electron density from the metal center through π -back-donation into the σ^*_{PR} antibonding orbital between the phosphorus atom and its substituents.¹⁹ This phenomenon actually impacts the TEP value as it is influenced the electron density on the Ni center. This is even more important in ligands such as carbenes where the π -accepting ability can be much more pronounced than in phosphines (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1: A₁ symmetric stretching vibration and selected factors influencing the electron density on the metal center

Although widely used, the TEP relies on nickel carbonyl complexes, which are highly toxic and in some case unstable. To circumvent this problem, two similar scales were developed, using *cis*-carbonyl complexes of rhodium²⁰⁻²⁴ and iridium, ^{20,24,25} of type $M(L)(CO)_2(Cl)$. For both scales, the reported value ($v_{CO}^{av/Rh}$ for Rh and $v_{CO}^{av/Ir}$ for Ir) is the average of the symmetric and asymmetric modes of the carbonyl ligands. This is problematic as the two modes might be differently influenced by both steric and electronic effects. ^{22,26} Moreover, the correlation between these scales and the TEP is not perfect as exemplified by the reversal in the relative order of donor strength between $PtBu_3$ and PCy_3 (TEP (in CH₂Cl₂): $PtBu_3 = 2056.1 \text{ cm}^{-1}$, $PCy_3 = 2056.4 \text{ cm}^{-1}$, *vs*. $v_{CO}^{av/Ir}$ (Nujol): $PtBu_3 = 2031 \text{ cm}^{-1}$, $PCy_3 = 2024 \text{ cm}^{-1}$).^{17,26}

Although eliminating the issue of the toxicity of nickel complexes, both new scales are also limited by the possibility of synthesizing the desired complexes and by cost considerations, as both rhodium and iridium are expensive metals.

In summary, the Tolman Electronic Parameter and related rhodium and iridium scales should be viewed as a measure of the overall donating ability of a ligand, taking into account both σ -donating and π -accepting contributions of the considered ligand to the electron density of the chosen metal center.

b) Cyclic Voltammetry

Another method of assessing ligands electronic properties is the measure of the redox potential of a given metal center. For example, the Lever Electronic Parameter (LEP) has been developed with ruthenium complexes (Ru^{II}/Ru^{III} couples) and is often used in inorganic chemistry.^{27,28} The systematic variation of only one ligand on a given complex provides a series of results from which one can observe the influence of the varied ligands on the potential of the considered redox couple. As the redox potential is directly related to the electron density on the metal center, the relative electron donating abilities of a series of ligands can be inferred. Different redox couples²⁹⁻³³ were considered to assess the properties of carbenes, however, sufficiently wide studies are still lacking. Moreover, as a measure of the electron density of the metal center, such studies are effectively an indication of the overall donating abilities of ligands and do not deconvolute σ - and π -contributions. Additionally, recent results suggest that ligands, and especially carbenes, can possess a non-innocent character in redox processes and in the stabilization of metal centers.³⁴⁻³⁸ Lastly, despite their superior precision, electrochemical techniques are far less widespread compared to infrared spectroscopy.

c) Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy

The most widespread analytical technique among organic and organometallic chemists is arguably Nuclear Magnetic Resonance spectroscopy (NMR). NMR is yet another method influenced by the electron density at the observed nuclide. As such, carbon 13 (13 C) NMR was used to study the ligand influence in different series of organometallic complexes of carbenes. Noteworthy are the palladium complexes of type Pd(Br)₂(**VII**)(L), where **VII** is the N,N'-diisopropylbenzymidazol-2-ylidene carbene, used by Huynh.^{39,40} In these complexes, the chemical shift of the carbenic carbon of **VII** serves as a probe throughout the series of ligands (Figure 1.2). Observing poor correlation between chemical shifts and TEP values, it was concluded that different factors might be at work between the two scales. Although NMR is a routine technique in the organic and organometallic chemistry toolbox, this scale is limited by the narrow range of observed chemical shifts (*ca.* 10 ppm wide). Moreover, only a few examples can be found in the literature. In addition, the mechanism of influence of the observed ligand remains unclear.





In conclusion, despite several experimental techniques to evaluate the overall donating ligands properties, the detailed understanding of the σ -donating and π -accepting abilities of carbenes remains limited mainly to computational analyses.

2) Computational Approach:

The development of density functional theory (DFT) led to a tremendous improvement of our understanding of the bonding of atoms in molecules.⁴¹ Molecular orbitals (MO) can be computed and information regarding the reactivity of a molecule can be inferred from the frontier orbitals, namely the highest occupied molecular orbital (HOMO) and the lowest unoccupied molecular orbital (LUMO).⁴² In the case of carbenes, the key frontier orbitals are the filled σ -orbital, which is the HOMO, and the empty p-orbital, which is the LUMO. Shapes and energies of these orbitals can provide information on potential reactivity^{11,43} and prospective stability.⁴⁴

The energies of the HOMO (E_{HOMO}) and LUMO (E_{LUMO}) are correlated to the nucleophilicity as well as to the σ -donating abilities for the former, and electrophilicity as well as to the π -accepting abilities for the latter. The higher the E_{HOMO} value, the more nucleophilic and better σ -donor the carbene, and conversely, the lower the E_{LUMO} value, the more electrophilic and more π -accepting the carbene will be. However, direct evaluation of the energy of empty orbitals such as the LUMO proved to be a difficult task as DFT inaccurately describes virtual orbitals.⁴⁵ Interestingly, DFT methods are not limited to the study of the free carbenes. TEP and LEP values can be derived with reasonable accuracy from calculations on the relevant metal complexes.^{26,46,47}

Although DFT calculations provide good insights into the electronic situation of carbenes and their properties, such results remain based on approximations and are highly dependent on the methods used to perform the analysis. Indeed, careful choice of functionals and basis sets must be effected, and some expertise is needed in order to obtain trustworthy results. Therefore, DFT results should be used very cautiously when trying to predict properties⁴⁸ and should rather be used as supporting arguments when discussing experimental observations

3) Concluding Remarks

Despite numerous techniques to assess the properties of carbenes, methods to separately evaluate σ -donating and π -accepting abilities are still lacking. The understanding of these properties is however of paramount importance.

Indeed, when looking back at the different redox behaviors of $(V)_2-P_2$ and $(VI)_2-P_2$, DFT analysis of the bonding situation between the carbenes and the P₂ core shows that the main differentiating factor is the polarization of the bond between the carbenic carbon atoms and the phosphorus atoms.¹⁴ Compounds $(V)_2-P_2$ and $(VI)_2-P_2$ are actually best described as adducts of two carbene fragments and a central bisphosphinidene core. The difference in bonding can then be rationalized as different back-donation of the phosphinidene lone pair into the carbene empty orbital. Carbene V is effectively able to accept more electron density than carbene VI. The result is a more electron-rich P₂ core in (VI)₂-P₂ that is indeed easier to oxidize.

Another striking difference is observed by NMR spectroscopy. In fact, the ³¹P chemical shift in (**V**)₂-**P**₂ is $\delta = 59.4$ ppm,⁴⁹ whereas in (**VI**)₂-**P**₂ it is $\delta = -52.4$ ppm.⁵⁰ NMR, as a measure of electron density at the phosphorus atom proves to be a good probe for the different electronic situations in (**V**)₂-**P**₂ and (**VI**)₂-**P**₂.

B) Evaluation of π -accepting properties of carbenes

1) Design of the scale:

The aforementioned bis-carbene-P₂ compounds are a perfect example of the fact that ³¹P chemical shifts of carbene-phosphinidene adducts can inform on the π -accepting properties of carbenes. However, such compounds are scarce in the literature and difficult to synthesize. Closer examination of such compounds reveals that, despite the fact they are best described as a bisphosphinidene P₂ core ligated by two carbenes, another depiction of the bonding situation is to regard them as bisphosphaalkenes. Phosphaalkenes are classical compounds in phosphorus chemistry and numerous examples have been synthesized and studied. ⁵¹⁻⁷⁹ Therefore, we rationalized that such compounds would provide a much simpler probe than the bis-carbene-P₂ adducts.

The influence of the carbene on the electron density at the phosphorus atom can be explained exactly as previously stated. Strongly π -accepting carbenes will favor a phosphaalkene structure, whereas their weakly π -accepting congeners will be better described as carbene-phosphinidene adducts (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3: Influence of the carbene on the ³¹P chemical shifts of phosphaalkenes

Indeed, traditional phosphaalkenes feature a polarized P=C double bond in which the P atom is the positive pole, leading to low-field ³¹P chemical shifts. In contrast, carbene-phosphinidene adducts feature a reversed polarization, with a phosphorus atom exhibiting a pronounced negative charge, resulting in high-field ³¹P chemical shifts (Figure 1.3). Historically, such carbene-phosphinidene adducts have been referred to as inversely polarized phosphaalkenes.

2) Synthesis of target compounds

Numerous synthetic routes have been developed to access phosphaalkenes (Scheme 1.2). ⁵⁴⁻⁷⁹ These routes are fairly diverse and mostly rely on the condensation of a phosphine derivative on various electrophiles. Interestingly, Arduengo reported that the addition of free carbenes to pentaphenylcyclopentaphosphane or to half an equivalent of dichlorophenylphosphine afforded the desired phosphaalkenes (Scheme 1.2).

In order to have a unified set of carbene-phosphinidene adducts, we chose to restrict our study to P-phenyl phosphaalkenes as a wide variety of those compounds can be found in the literature.

Additionally, we consider the design of a unified versatile synthesis using free carbenes as starting materials. The first step of this new synthetic route involves the addition of a free carbene to dichlorophenylphosphine in benzene or hexane resulting in a salt. The solution is then simply filtered out and with no further purification, the salt is reduced using two equivalents of either magnesium or potassium graphite (KC₈). The desired carbene-phosphinidene adduct can be obtained after subsequent workup, but a ³¹P NMR analysis of the crude mixture after reduction affords all the necessary information.

Condensation







 $(R^{1}, R^{2}) = (Me, Me), (Mes, H)$

New Versatile Synthesis



Scheme 1.2: Examples of synthesis of P-phenyl phosphaalkenes

This strategy also proved to be adapted to a wide variety of carbenes as adducts of carbenes 6, 9, 10, 11, 13, 14, 16, 18, 19, 22, 25, 26 and 27 were obtained. The main advantage of this approach lies in the fact that isolation of the intermediate salt and purification of the final phosphaalkene are not mandatory, providing a versatile and easy to implement access to the desired compound (Scheme 1.2).

3) Discussion

Note: Relevant ³¹*P chemical shifts data from this study and the literature have been compiled in Tables 1.1-1.4*

a) Influence of the nature of the carbene substituents

It is well understood that the nature of a carbene substituents has a tremendous influence on its stability as they influence the singlet-triplet gap.⁴⁴ Whereas inductive effects impact mostly the energy of σ -orbital (HOMO), mesomeric effects mainly influence the LUMO. This is perfectly illustrated when considering the acyclic carbene series. Indeed, when comparing the different chemical shifts of **4PPh** and **6PPh** (221.0 and 126.3 ppm, respectively), the replacement of a hydrogen atom by a π -donating dialkylamino group reduces the ability of the carbene to accept electron density from the phosphinidene fragment. The same effect accounts for the difference between **6PPh** and **9PPh** (126.3 and 69.5 ppm, respectively) when, in **9**, a second π -donating dialkylamino group replaces the alkyl substituent of **6**. Another similar effect is highlighted by the chemical shifts of **7PPh** and **9PPh** (124.3 and 69.5 ppm, respectively). Indeed, in **7** the dialkylphosphino substituent is a poorer π -donor than its nitrogen analog in **9**, accounting for the increased π -accepting ability of **7**.

These effects can also be found in the cyclic series. Indeed, cyclic (alkyl)(amino)carbenes **18**, **19** and **20** (68.9, 56.2, 49.0 ppm for the ³¹P chemical shifts of their respective adducts) have only one π -donating substituent whereas diaminocarbenes **22** and **23** (-10.2 and -10.4 ppm for the ³¹P chemical shifts of their respective adducts) possess two. In parallel, **21** (44.9 ppm for **21** PPh) is more accepting than **22** and **23** due

to the poorer donating ability of sulfur compared to nitrogen. The exact same argument can be made to explain the difference between **10** and **11** (57.0 and -18.9 ppm for the ³¹P chemical shifts of their respective adducts). Along this line, when comparing **15** and **16** to **11** and **12** (-53.5 and -61.2 *vs.* -18.9 and -23.0 ppm for the ³¹P chemical shifts of their respective adducts), the alkylsubstituted nitrogen substituents of **15** and **16** are better donors than the arylsubstituted ones of **11** and **12**.

In summary, the more π -donating substituents a carbene has, the less π -accepting it will be. Additionally, the better π -donors the substituents are, the less π -accepting the carbene is.

b) Acyclic vs. cyclic carbenes

Adducts **8'PPh** and **20'PPh** have significantly different ³¹P chemical shifts (85.6 and 49.0 ppm, respectively). This can be explained by considering the flexibility of the structure of the corresponding carbenes. Indeed, the inclusion of the carbene center into a cycle restrains the rotation around the C-N bond between the carbene center and its nitrogen substituent. Therefore, the lone pair of the nitrogen substituent is constrained in a conformation that is favorable to π -donation into the empty orbital of the carbene, competing with the back-donation of the phosphorus lone pair in the case of the carbene-phosphinidene adduct. In the acyclic case, rotation around the C-N bond is less hindered and back-donation becomes much more possible. The same argument accounts for the observation in the case of diamino carbenes **9** and **22**.

To summarize, increased flexibility results in enhanced π -accepting abilities.

c) Additional factors in the cyclic series

i) Influence of the ring aromaticity

When comparing 11 to 22 (-18.9 and -10.2 ppm for 11'PPh and 22'PPh, respectively) and 12 to 23 (-23.0 and -10.4 ppm for 12 PPh and 23 PPh, respectively), the two couples have identical substituents at the nitrogen but differ in the presence of a double bond in the backbone of **11** and **12** making these 5-membered rings aromatic. The saturated counterparts 17 and 18 are more π -accepting as previously observed by Nolan using as series of platinum complexes.⁸⁰ Indeed, the aromaticity of the ring accounts for the high-field chemical shifts of adducts 11'PPh to 16'PPh. Of particular interest is carbene 14 as, despite having no heteroatomic substituent attached to the carbene center, the aromatic nature of the cyclopropene ring is responsible for the observed chemical shift as 14 PPh can be seen as a zwitterionic compound with an aromatic cyclopropenium unit connected to a negatively charged phenylsubstituted phosphorus atom. Another revealing example is the case of carbenes 13 and 16 (-34.6 and -61.2 ppm, for the ${}^{31}P$ chemical shifts of their respective adducts). As expected, benzannulation increases the π accepting ability of the carbene as the extended aromatic system can accommodate more electron density. This result is reminiscent to the observation of Heinicke using rhodium complexes.⁸¹

In summary, aromaticity in cyclic carbenes results in enhanced electron donation in the empty orbital of the carbene. The consequence is that carbenes incorporated in aromatic rings are less π -accepting than their saturated analogues. Expanding the size of the cycle results in a more flexible structure. Indeed, as discussed in the case of acyclic *vs.* cyclic carbenes, this results in enhanced π -accepting abilities. This is clear when comparing carbenes **22** and **27** that only differ in the size of their respective rings, as the substituents at the nitrogen atoms are identical. **22** PPh presents a ³¹P chemical shift at higher field than **27** PPh (-10.2 and 14.8 ppm, respectively).

iii) Influence of the donating abilities of the carbene substituents

As discussed earlier, the π -donating ability of the carbene substituents plays a dramatic role on the π -accepting ability of the carbene. It can be tuned by changing the nature of the substituent, for example changing a nitrogen atom for sulfur, but it can also be affected by preventing the donation of the nitrogen lone pair into the empty orbital of the carbene by other mechanisms. The introduction of electron withdrawing functional groups competing with the carbene empty orbital for the π -donation of the substituent results in more π -accepting carbenes. This is apparent in the carbonyl-decorated carbenes **17**, **24** and **25**. Indeed, **17**:**PPh** displays a much lower ³¹P chemical shift that **23**:**PPh** (78.6 and -10.4 ppm, respectively). The same phenomenon is observed when comparing **27**:**PPh** to **24**:**PPh** and **25**:**PPh** (14.8, 39.7 and 83.0 ppm, respectively). Another mechanism for influencing the π -donating ability of the carbene substituents is exemplified by the anti-Bredt carbene **26**. In this case, the lone pair one of the nitrogen substituent is prevented from donating into the carbene empty orbital by forcing the nitrogen atom in a bridgehead position. The nitrogen lone pair becomes perpendicular to

the carbene empty orbital, preventing donation. Additionally, donation of this lone pair into the empty orbital could be described by a resonance structure featuring a double bond to an atom in a bridgehead position in a strained [4.4.0]-bicyclic compound, resulting in a violation of the so-called Bredt's rule.⁸²

To summarize, π -accepting abilities of a carbene can be tuned through modulation of the π -donor strength of its substituents.

d) Sensitivity to steric effects

Similarly to the TEP being affected by the steric properties of ligands, the developed carbene-phosphinidene probe is not exempt from such considerations. Indeed, in the case of the unsymmetrically substituted carbenes, phosphaalkenes can exist in two stereoisomeric forms. Indeed, both isomers exhibit different ³¹P chemical shifts as exemplified by the case of carbene 5 (Z-5'PPh: 134.0 ppm and E-5'PPh: 149.2 ppm). This can be rationalized as the substituent *trans* to the phenyl group is allowed better conjugation because of less steric strain. This results in less back-donation from the phosphorus moiety and therefore a lower field chemical shift.⁸³ Although our methodology seems selective towards the most stable isomer, as we never observed any mixture of isomers, carbenes with different steric demands can give rise to different geometries. This can be observed in the case of cyclic (alkyl)(amino) carbenes 18 and 19. Indeed, the cyclohexyl flanker of 18 is much more flexible that the conformationally locked menthyl flanker of 19. Single crystal X-Ray diffraction studies of their respective adduct shows that **18** PPh exhibits an E-geometry at the C=P double bond, whereas 19'PPh shows a Z-configuration (Figure 1.4). Consequently, despite most likely sharing

similar π -accepting abilities, the ³¹P chemical shifts of the two adducts differ by *ca*. 13 ppm (**18'PPh**: 68.9 ppm, **19'PPh**: 56.2 ppm).



Figure 1.4: Solid-state structures of (a) **18'PPh** and (b) **19'PPh**. Ellipsoids are drawn to 50% probability; hydrogen atoms are omitted for clarity. In the case of **21'PPh**, only one molecule from the asymmetric unit is shown. Selected angles: a) N-C_{carbene}-P-C_{Ph} = 179.0° b) N-C_{carbene}-P-C_{Ph} = 4.2°

e) Evaluating non isolable carbenes

One advantage of this probe resides in the possibility to access information pertaining to carbenes that cannot be isolated. Indeed, carbenes **1-4** possess triplet ground states and are too reactive for isolation.⁴⁴ Carbene **21**, on the other hand, is suspected to decompose into ethylene and carbon disulfide.⁸⁴ Thanks to the well-established phosphaalkene chemistry, a wide variety of carbenes can be studied, as their phosphinidene adducts are accessible through a diverse array of synthetic approaches.

f) Deconvolution of σ -donating and π -accepting properties

The carbene-phosphinidene probe provides a good measure of π -accepting properties. When these results are combined with another metric such as the TEP, σ -donating and π -accepting contributions can be deconvoluted. Indeed, carbenes 10 and 13

possess identical TEP values (2054 cm⁻¹), however **10** is much more electrophilic as expected from the presence of the poorer π -donating sulfur substituent. This suggests that **10** is a much better σ -donor than **13**. This is coherent with the more electropositive sulfur atom not being able to stabilize the σ -orbital as well as nitrogen through attracting inductive effects. Along this line, carbenes **6** and **27** possess identical TEP (2044 cm⁻¹), suggesting similar overall donating properties. However, as expected from the reduced stabilization of the empty orbital by the unique dialkylamino substituent and the more electropositive carbon substituent being poorly able to stabilize the σ -orbital, carbene **6** is both more σ -donating and π -accepting than **27**.

Following the same reasoning, the observation of the TEPs of CAACs **18** and **19** (2042 and 2049, respectively) and of NHCs **11-13**, **15**, **16**, **22** and **23** (2051-2054 cm⁻¹) allows for the conclusion that not only are CAACs overall stronger ligands than NHCs, they are actually both better π -acceptors and much better σ -donors as predicted by calculations.⁸⁵

g) On the possibility of extending the scale to non-carbene ligands

Careful analysis of the literature reveals that other compounds can be considered as ligand-phosphinidene adducts (Table 1.5). Compounds **28** PPh and **29** PPh can be viewed as adduct of phosphinidene ligand **28** and nitrene ligand **29**, respectively. As intuited for such electron deficient species, their adducts display extremely low field ³¹P chemical shifts (**28** PPh: 525 ppm, **29** PPh: 415 ppm). Derivative **30** PPh can be viewed as the adduct of isocyanide **30** and displays a significantly high field shift signal (**30** PPh: -99 ppm). The interpretation in terms of π -back donation should be considered very carefully here as the formation of the adduct involves dramatic structural changes. Effectively, free isocyanides present an almost linear dicoordinated nitrogen atom,⁸⁶ whereas in the adduct the bond angle at the nitrogen center is of *ca.* 128° .⁸⁷ For compounds **29** and **31-33** similar adducts have been isolated, however, the substituent on the phosphorus moiety is the more sterically protecting 2,4,6-tri(tertbutyl)phenyl group (Mes^{*}), preventing direct quantitative comparison with the previously considered adducts. Nevertheless, in the case of phosphines **31** and **32**, the observed ³¹P chemical shifts of their respective adducts (-134 and -153.7 ppm, respectively) seem to confirm the idea that phosphines are indeed poor π -acceptors. These data suggest that the scale developed in this work could be extended to other ligands. Indeed, such an expansion would require detailed computational support to confirm that the bonding situations across the various ligand families can be readily compared.

C) Conclusion

In this chapter, we have demonstrated that the ³¹P chemical shift of carbenephosphinidene adducts provides a probe of the relative π -accepting abilities of carbenes. We developed a versatile and easy synthesis of such compounds involving free carbenes and dichlorophenylphosphine. This scale is more spread out than the TEP scale and much more sensitive as subtle variations in the electronic structure of the carbenes result in significantly different ³¹P chemical shifts. Additionally, the combination of both metrics allows for the deconvolution of σ -donating and π -accepting properties. Finally, we propose that this concept could be extended to different ligands on the condition that additional computational information confirms the validity of the analogy.

	Carbene	Carbene-PPh Adduct δ ³¹ P (ppm)	Solvent	T (°C)	TEP (cm^{-1})
		Acyclic Carl	benes		
1	TMS 〉: TMS	332 ⁶⁴ 372 ⁷⁰	N/A N/A	N/A 50	N/A
2	H H	266.0 ⁷²	THF/C ₇ D ₈ 3/1	-80	2089 (a) ⁴⁶
3	Ph 〉: Ph	232 ⁶³	N/A	N/A	N/A
4	——————————————————————————————————————	221.0 ⁶⁹	C_6D_6	25	N/A
5	Mes >: TMSO	Z: 134.0 ⁷⁵ E: 149.2 ⁷⁵	C_6D_6	N/A	N/A
6	Cy – N Cy	126.3 77	CDCl ₃	25	2044 (d) ⁷⁷
7	,i-Pr i-Pr −P }: i-Pr −N i-Pr	124.3 ⁷⁴	C_6D_6	25	N/A
8	>: Me ₂ N	85.6 ⁶¹	C_6D_6	34	N/A
9	, i-Pr i-Pr −N }: i-Pr −N i-Pr	69.5 ⁷⁷	C_6D_6	25	2037 (d) ⁷⁷

 Table 1.1: Acyclic carbenes

(b) Experimental value from Ni(CO)₃ complex

(c) Linear regression from experimental ${\nu_{CO}}^{av}$ of $Ir(L)(CO)_2(Cl)$ complex

(d) Linear regression from experimental $\nu_{CO}{}^{av}$ of $Rh(L)(CO)_2(Cl)$ complex

-

		Carbene-PPh			. 1.			
	Carbene	Adduct	Solvent	T (°C)	TEP (cm^{-1})			
	δ ³ P (ppm)							
		Aromatic Ca	veles					
	~~_S	Thomatic Cy						
10		57.0 ⁷⁷	C ₆ D ₆	25	$2054 (c)^{77}$			
			- 0- 0		_ (1)			
	Dipp							
	N	77			22			
11	l>∶	-18.9 //	C_6D_6	25	2052 (b) ⁷⁷			
	Dipp							
	Mes							
12	∏ N:	-23 0 77	D₀-THF	25	2051 (b) ⁷⁷			
	^{L'} N		26 111		2001 (0)			
	Mes							
	N N							
13		-34.6 77	C_6D_6	25	$2054(a)^{77}$			
	··-Pr							
	<i>i</i> -Pr							
	i-Pr – N	77			77			
14		-34.9 //	C_6D_6	25	$2045 (d)^{\prime\prime}$			
	<i>i-</i> Pr – N							
	/							
15	N N	-53 5 77	D ₀ -THF	25	$2052 (a)^{77}$			
15	N,	-55.5	D8-1111	25	2052 (u)			
	` <i>i-</i> Pr							
	Ň				22			
16	l ≻:	-61.2 ''	C_6D_6	25	$2052 (a)^{\prime\prime}$			
	<i>i-</i> Pr							

 Table 1.2: Cyclic carbenes with aromatic cycles

(b) Experimental value from Ni(CO)₃ complex

(c) Linear regression from experimental ${\nu_{CO}}^{av}$ of $Ir(L)(CO)_2(Cl)$ complex

(d) Linear regression from experimental $\nu_{CO}^{\ av}$ of $Rh(L)(CO)_2(Cl)$ complex

		Carbene-PPh					
	Carbene	Adduct	Solvent	T (°C)	TEP (cm^{-1})		
		δ ³¹ P (ppm)					
Cyclic Carbenes							
		Non-Aromatic	Cycles				
		5-Membered C	Cycles				
17	O N N Mes	78.6 ⁷⁸	C_6D_6	25	2068 (d) ⁷⁷		
18	, N Dipp	68.9 ⁷⁷	C_6D_6	25	2049 (d) ⁷⁷		
19	<i>i</i> -Pr ···· N Dipp	56.277	C_6D_6	25	2042 (c) ⁷⁷		
20	N Me	49.0 ⁶¹	C_6D_6	34	2055 (a) ⁴⁷		
21		44.9 ⁷⁹	N/A	N/A	N/A		
22	Dipp N N Dipp	-10.2 77	CDCl ₃	25	2052 (b) ⁷⁷		
23	Mes N N Mes	-10.4 ⁷⁷	D ₈ -THF	25	2052 (b) ⁷⁷		

 Table 1.3: Cyclic carbones with non-aromatic 5-membered cycles

(b) Experimental value from Ni(CO)₃ complex

(c) Linear regression from experimental ${\nu_{CO}}^{av}$ of $Ir(L)(CO)_2(Cl)$ complex

(d) Linear regression from experimental v_{CO}^{av} of $Rh(L)(CO)_2(Cl)$ complex

	~ ·	Carbene-PPh	~ .	-	
	Carbene	Adduct	Solvent	T (°C)	TEP (cm ⁻¹)
		δ ³⁴ P (ppm)			
		Cyclic Carbe	enes		
		Non-Aromatic	Cycles		
	• • •	6-Membered C	Lycles .		
24	O Mes N N O Mes	83.0 ⁷⁸	C_6D_6	25	2057 (d) ²³
25	O Mes N: N Mes	39.7 ⁷⁷	C_6D_6	25	2050 (c) ⁷⁷
26	N N Dipp	34.9 77	C_6D_6	25	2047 (c) ⁷⁷
27	Dipp N: N Dipp	14.8 77	C ₆ D ₆	25	2044 (c) ⁷⁷

Table 1.4: Cyclic carbenes with non-aromatic 6-membered cycles

(b) Experimental value from Ni(CO)₃ complex

(c) Linear regression from experimental ${\nu_{CO}}^{av}$ of $Ir(L)(CO)_2(Cl)$ complex

(d) Linear regression from experimental $\nu_{CO}^{\ av}$ of $Rh(L)(CO)_2(Cl)$ complex

		Ligand-PPh					
	Ligand	Adduct	Solvent	T (°C)	TEP (cm^{-1})		
		δ^{31} P (ppm)					
Other Ligands							
28	Mes* P	525 ⁸⁸	THF	N/A	N/A		
29	Mes* N	415 ⁸⁹ 396 (e) ⁸⁹	N/A	N/A	N/A		
30	Z≣O	-99 ⁹⁰	N/A	N/A	N/A		
31	PMe ₃	$-134.0 (e)^{91}$	C_6D_6	25	2064 (b) ¹⁷		
32	P <i>n-</i> Bu₃	$-153.7 (e)^{91}$	C_6D_6	25	$2060 (b)^{17}$		
33	O III C	-207.4 (e) ⁹²	C_6D_6	25	2120 (a) ⁴⁶		

 Table 1.5: Non-carbene ligands

(b) Experimental value from Ni(CO)₃ complex

(c) Linear regression from experimental ${\nu_{CO}}^{av}$ of $Ir(L)(CO)_2(Cl)$ complex

(d) Linear regression from experimental ν_{CO}^{av} of Rh(L)(CO)₂(Cl) complex (e) The aromatic substituent at the phosphorus atom is Mes^{*}

Chapter 1 has been adapted from materials published in O. Back, M. Henry-Ellinger, C. D. Martin, D. Martin and G. Bertrand, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 2939-2943. The dissertation author actively participated in this project.

D) Appendix: Experimental section

1) General considerations

All manipulations were performed under an atmosphere of dry argon using standard Schlenk techniques or in an argon filled glove box. Solvents were dried by standard methods and distilled under argon. Deuterated solvents were purchased from Cambridge Isotope Laboratories and distilled over CaH₂. Magnesium (325 mesh, 99.5%) was used as received from Sigma Aldrich. Dichlorophenylphosphine (97%) was purchased from Acros Organics, was refluxed to removed HCl, and subsequently distilled. The carbenes $6,^{93}$ 9,⁹⁴ 10,⁹⁵ 11,⁹⁶ 13,⁹⁷ 14,⁹⁸ 16,⁹⁹ 18,¹⁵ 19,¹⁵ 22,⁹⁶ 25,¹⁰⁰ 26¹⁰¹ and 27¹⁰⁰ were prepared according to the literature procedures. ¹H, ³¹P, and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on Varian Inova 300, 400, 500 or Bruker 300, 400, 500 or JEOL 500 MHz spectrometers at 25 °C. Chemical shifts are given in ppm and are referenced to SiMe₄ (¹H, ¹³C) and 85 % H₃PO₄ (³¹P). NMR multiplicities are abbreviated as follows: s = singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quadruplet, quint = quintet, sept = septet, oct = octuplet, m = multiplet, br = broad signal.

2) Synthesis of carbene-phosphinidene adducts

Preparation of adduct 16 PPh: In the glovebox, pentaphenylcyclopentaphosphane (0.318 g, 0.59 mmol) was added at room temperature to a solution of **16** (0.448 g, 2.95 mmol) of THF (8 mL). Immediately upon addition the solution became red. The solution was stirred overnight. The volatiles were removed *in vacuo* and the resulting yellow solid was washed with hexane (2 X 10 mL) and dried *in vacuo* to afford **16 PPh** as a fine yellow powder. Yield 79% (0.610 g, 2.34 mmol). ³¹P{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 162 MHz): δ - 61.2. ¹H NMR (C₆D₆, 400 MHz): δ 0.94 (d, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 12 H), 5.07 (sept, *J* = 7.2 Hz, *J* =
4 Hz, 2 H), 6.41 (s, 2 H), 6.86 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 1 H), 7.03 (t, J = 7.2 Hz 2 H), 7.54 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2 H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 100 MHz): δ 22.3, 50.4 (d, $J_{PC} = 9$ Hz), 116.3, 122.2, 128.3, 132.0 (d, $J_{PC} = 20$ Hz), 151.1 (d, $J_{PC} = 50$ Hz), 167.8 (d, $J_{PC} = 102$ Hz, C_{carbene}).

Preparation of adduct 6PPh: Dichlorophosphine (0.440 g, 2.46 mmol) was added at room temperature to a solution of **6** (0.613 g, 2.46 mmol) in hexane (20 mL). The mixture was stirred overnight and then cannula filtered. The solid was successively washed with hexane (20 mL) and benzene (20 mL) and then dried *in vacuo*. Magnesium (0.120 g, 4.96 mmol) was then added to the solid followed by the addition of THF (5 mL). The mixture was stirred overnight and the volatiles removed *in vacuo*. The product was extracted with benzene (15 mL). After evaporation of the solvent the residue was washed with 10 mL of hexane and the resulting solid was dried under vacuum. Compound **6 PPh** was obtained as a fine yellow powder. Yield 7% (0.060 g, 0.17 mmol). ³¹P{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 121 MHz): δ +126.3. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): δ 0.73-2.10 (m, 20 H), 1.36 (s, 9 H), 3.59 (t, *J* = 11.8 Hz, 2 H), 7.05-7.13 (m, 1 H), 7.15-7.20 (m, 2 H), 7.40-7.45 (m, 2 H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125.7 MHz): δ 27.6, 28.9, 32.9 (d, *J*_{PC} = 18 Hz), 33.7, 42.9 (d, *J*_{PC} = 31 Hz), 68.7, 127.3, 128.5, 134.7 (d, *J*_{PC} = 10 Hz), 144.9 (d, *J*_{PC} = 45 Hz), 217.2 (d, *J*_{PC} = 83 Hz, Cearbene).

Preparation of adduct 9'PPh: Dichlorophenylphosphine (0.186g, 1.04 mmol) was added at room temperature to a solution of the **9** (0.220g, 1.04 mmol) in hexane (10 mL). Immediately a bright yellow precipitate was generated. The mixture was then stirred overnight and the precipitate cannula filtered. The solids were washed with diethyl ether (2 X 10 mL) and dried *in vacuo*. Magnesium (0.050 g, 2.08 mmol) was added followed by the addition of THF (8 mL). The mixture was then stirred at room temperature

overnight and the volatiles removed *in vacuo*. The product was extracted with benzene (15 mL). After removing the volatiles *in vacuo* compound **9'PPh** was obtained as a bright yellow oil. Yield 74% (0.246 g, 0.77 mmol). ³¹P{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 202.5 MHz): δ +69.5. ¹H NMR (C₆D₆, 500 MHz): δ 0.90 (d, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 12 H), 1.31 (d, *J* = 6.1 Hz, 12 H), 3.80 (sept, *J* = 6.1 Hz, 2 H), 4.14 (sept, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 2 H), 7.06 (t, *J* = 6.0 Hz, 1 H), 7.14 (t, *J* = 6.0 Hz 2 H), 7.61-7.69 (m, 2 H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 125.7 MHz): δ 22.9, 23.6 (d, *J*_{PC} = 6 Hz), 50.9 (d, *J*_{PC} = 4 Hz), 54.3, 126.7, 128.6, 135.2 (d, *J*_{PC} = 12 Hz), 146.2 (d, *J*_{PC} = 48 Hz), 199.7 (d, *J*_{PC} = 68 Hz, C_{carbene}).

Preparation of adduct 10PPh: Dichlorophosphine (0.805 g, 4.48 mmol) was added at room temperature to a solution of **10** (1.34 g, 4.48 mmol) in benzene (50 mL) resulting in a dark slurry. The mixture was then stirred overnight and cannula filtered. The volatiles from the supernatant were removed *in vacuo*. The residue was washed with benzene (15 mL) and subsequently with hexane (2 X 15 mL). The resulting powder was dried *in vacuo*. Magnesium (0.218 g, 8.96 mmol) was then added to the solids followed by the addition of THF (25 mL) at room temperature. The mixture was stirred overnight and the volatiles removed *in vacuo*. The product was extracted with hexane (20 mL) and the solvent was subsequently removed *in vacuo* giving an orange oil which solidified overnight. Yield 16% (0.286 g, 0.702 mmol). ³¹P{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 202.5 MHz): δ +57.0. ¹H NMR (C₆D₆, 500 MHz): δ 1.02 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 6 H), 1.12-1.26 (m, 4H), 1.47 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 6 H), 1.61-1.66 (m, 2H), 1.81-1.86 (m, 2H), 2.91 (sept, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 7.04-7.10 (m, 4H), 7.17-7.21 (m, 2H), 7.82-7.87 (m, 2H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 125.7 MHz): δ 2.2.1, 2.3.1, 23.3, 24.2, 24.5, 25.4, 28.9, 115.9 (d, *J*_{PC} = 1 Hz), 125.4, 127.6,

128.6, 129.2 (d, $J_{PC} = 4$ Hz), 129.3, 130.5, 136.2 (d, $J_{PC} = 12$ Hz), 143.7 (d, $J_{PC} = 38$ Hz), 147.4 (d, $J_{PC} = 3$ Hz), 192.0 (d, $J_{PC} = 79$ Hz, $C_{carbene}$).

Preparation of adduct 11 PPh: Dichlorophenylphosphine (0.345 g, 1.93 mmol) was added at room temperature to a slurry of **11** (0.750 g, 1.93 mmol) in hexane (20 mL). The mixture was stirred overnight and the precipitate was then cannula filtered and washed with hexane (2 X 15 mL). The solid was dried *in vacuo*. Potassium graphite (0.522 g, 3.86 mmol) was added to the solid followed by the addition of THF (20 mL). The mixture was stirred overnight and the graphite was removed by cannula filtration. The volatiles were then removed *in vacuo* and the residue washed with hexane (2 X 6 mL). The resulting solid was dried *in vacuo* affording **11 PPh** as a bright yellow powder. Yield 46% (0.440 g, 0.89 mmol). ³¹P{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 162 MHz): δ -18.9. ¹H NMR (C₆D₆, 400 MHz): δ 1.12 (d, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 12 H), 1.43 (d, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 12 H), 3.22 (sept, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 4 H), 6.19 (s, 2 H), 6.66-6.68 (m, 3 H), 6.98 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 4 H), 7.10 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2 H), 7.26-7.40 (m, 2 H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 100 MHz): δ 23.4, 25.5, 29.3, 120.8, 124.7, 125.4, 126.9, 130.3, 135.3, 137.7 (d, *J*_{PC} = 13 Hz), 139.1 (d, *J*_{PC} = 35 Hz), 147.0, 172.9 (d, *J*_{PC} = 83 Hz, C_{carbene}).

Preparation of adduct 13 PPh: Dichlorophenylphosphine (1.350g, 7.54 mmol) was added at room temperature to a solution of **13** (1.525g, 7.54 mmol) in hexane (30 mL). Immediately upon addition a white precipitate appeared. The mixture was then stirred at room temperature overnight and the mixture cannula filtered. The white solid was then washed with diethylether (2 X 30 mL) and dried *in vacuo*. Potassium graphite (2.032g, 15.08 mmol) was then added to the solid followed by the addition of THF (35 mL). The mixture was then stirred at room temperature for 4 hours and the graphite was removed

by cannula filtration. The volatiles were removed *in vacuo* and the product extracted with hexane (75 mL). After evaporation of the solvent *in vacuo* the residue was washed with pentane (2 X 5 mL). The resulting solid was dried *in vacuo* to afford **13**:**PPh** as a red microcrystalline powder. Yield 24% (0.560 g, 1.81 mmol). ³¹P{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 162 MHz): δ -34.6. ¹H NMR (C₆D₆, 400 MHz): δ 1.11 (d, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 12 H), 5.22 (oct, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2 H), 6.81-6.86 (m, 2 H), 6.90-6.96 (m, 2 H), 7.00 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1 H), 7.09 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2 H), 7.79 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2 H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 100 MHz): δ 19.7, 51.4 (d, *J*_{PC} = 15 Hz), 111.2, 121.6, 125.5, 128.7, 134.5 (d, *J*_{PC} = 3 Hz), 135.3 (d, *J*_{PC} = 16 Hz), 145.2 (d, *J*_{PC} = 46 Hz), 177.4 (d, *J*_{PC} = 97 Hz, C_{carbene}).

Preparation of adduct 14 PPh: A solution of **14** (0.026 g, 0.11 mmol) in hexane (6 mL) was added at room temperature to a solution of dichlorophenylphosphine (0.020g, 0.11 mmol) in hexane (6 mL). Immediately upon the addition a light brown precipitate appeared. The mixture was then stirred for 4 hours. The precipitate was cannula filtered and washed with diethyl ether (2 X 10 mL). The resulting solid was dried *in vacuo* and magnesium (0.006 g, 0.22 mmol) was added followed by the addition of THF (4 mL). The mixture was stirred overnight and the solvent removed *in vacuo*. The product was extracted with a 1:1 benzene/hexane mixture (16 mL). After evaporating the solvent *in vacuo*, **14 PPh** was obtained as an orange solid. Yield 26% (0.010 g, 0.03 mmol). ${}^{31}P{}^{1}H{}$ NMR (C₆D₆, 202.5 MHz): δ -34.9. ${}^{1}H$ NMR (C₆D₆, 500 MHz): δ 0.99 (d, *J* = 7 Hz, 24 H), 3.41 (sept, *J* = 7 Hz, 4 H), 7.04 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1 H), 7.13 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 2 H), 8.02-8.09 (m, 2 H). ${}^{13}C{}^{1}H{}$ NMR (C₆D₆, 125.7 MHz): δ 23.1, 50.1, 125.5, 126.9, 127.9, 137.7 (d, *J*_{PC} = 15 Hz), 138.5 (d, *J*_{PC} = 109 Hz, C_{carben}), 148.0 (d, *J*_{PC} = 47 Hz).

Preparation of adduct 18 PPh: Dichlorophenylphosphine (0.462 g, 2.58 mmol) was added at room temperature to a solution of 18 (0.840 g, 2.58 mmol) in hexane (15 mL). Immediately upon addition a vellow precipitate was generated. The mixture was stirred overnight and the mixture cannula filtered. The solids were washed diethyl ether (2 X 15 mL) and dried in vacuo. Magnesium (0.125 g, 5.16 mmol) was added to the solids followed by the addition of THF (8 mL). The mixture was then stirred for 4 hours and the volatiles removed in vacuo. The product was extracted with hexane (30 mL). Evaporation of the solvent afforded 18 PPh as a pale yellow powder. Yield 40% (0.440 g, 1.02 mmol). ³¹P{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 162 MHz): δ 68.9. ¹H NMR (C₆D₆, 400 MHz): δ 1.00-1.73 (m, 8 H), 1.04 (s, 6 H), 1.27 (d, J = 6.4 Hz, 6 H), 1.65 (d, J = 6.4 Hz, 6 H), 1.79 (s, 2 H), 2.04 (dt, J = 13.2 Hz, J = 3.2 Hz, 2 H), 3.12 (sept, J = 6.4 Hz, 2 H), 7.01-7.09 (m, 3 H), 7.11-7.16 (m, 2 H), 7.18-7.23 (m, 1 H), 7.68-7.73 (m, 2 H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 100 MHz): δ 23.7, 24.9, 26.1, 27.8 (d, J_{PC} = 9 Hz), 29.5, 29.9, 38.7 (d, J_{PC} = 4 Hz), 50.4, 56.1 (d, J_{PC} = 12 Hz), 67.5, 125.8, 127.5, 127.9, 129.4, 134.9, 138.3 (d, J_{PC} = 11 Hz), 141.5 (d, J_{PC} = 47 Hz), 148.9, 208.1 (d, $J_{PC} = 66$ Hz).

Preparation of adduct 19PPh: Dichlorophenylphosphine (0.492 g, 2.75 mmol) was added at room temperature to a solution of **19** (1.050 g, 2.75 mmol) in hexane (15 mL). Immediately upon addition the solution turned blue and a precipitate appeared. The mixture was stirred overnight, during this time the solution became colorless. The precipitate was cannula filtered and washed with hexane (2 X 20 mL). The resulting solids were dried *in vacuo*. Potassium graphite (0.744 g, 5.50 mmol) was added to the solid followed by the addition of THF (20 mL) at -80 °C. The mixture was then stirred at room temperature for 3 hours and the graphite removed by cannula filtration. After

evaporation of the solvent *in vacuo*, **19'PPh** was obtained as a pale yellow powder. Yield 42% (0.565 g, 1.15 mmol). ³¹P{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 121 MHz): δ +56.2. ¹H NMR (C₆D₆, 500 MHz): δ 0.99 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3 H), 1.00 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3 H), 1.00 (s, 3 H), 1.06 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3 H), 1.13 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3 H), 1.14 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3 H), 1.16 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3 H), 1.24 (s, 3 H), 1.2-1.4 (m, 2 H), 1.51 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3 H), 1.56-1.70 (m, 2 H), 1.59 (d, *J* = 12.9 Hz, 1 H), 1.99 (d, *J* = 13.1 Hz, 1 H), 2.31 (sept, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 1 H), 2.47 (d, *J* = 12.9 Hz, 1 H), 2.50 (d, *J* = 13.1 Hz, 1 H), 2.86 (qt, *J* = 13.4 Hz, *J* = 4.2 Hz, 1 H), 3.10-3.35 (m, 1 H), 3.26 (sept, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 1 H), 6.7-7.0 (m, 8 H), 1 H belonging to the cyclohexyl ring couldn't be observed because of overlapping. ¹³C{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 125.7 MHz): δ 21.5 (d, *J*_{PC} = 10 Hz), 22.9, 23.7, 24.9, 25.0 (d, *J*_{PC} = 10 Hz), 58.6 (d, *J*_{PC} = 27 Hz), 68.9, 125.8, 126.1 (d, *J*_{PC} = 6 Hz), 127.7 (d, *J*_{PC} = 6 Hz), 129.36, 134.6, 134.8, 138.2, 138.6, 141.9 (d, *J*_{PC} = 64 Hz), 149.9 (d, *J*_{PC} = 12 Hz), 191.3 (d, *J*_{PC} = 109 Hz, C_{carbene}).

Preparation of adduct 22 PPh: Dichlorophosphine (0.230 g, 1.28 mmol) was added at room temperature to a slurry of **22** (0.500 g, 1.28 mmol) in hexane (12 mL). The mixture was stirred overnight and the mixture cannula filtered. The solids were washed with hexane (2 X 10 mL) and then dried *in vacuo*. Magnesium (0.062 g, 2.56 mmol) was then added to the solid followed by the addition of THF (10 mL). The mixture was stirred for 3 hours and the volatiles were removed *in vacuo*. The product was extracted with hexane (25 mL) and after evaporation of the solvent compound **22 PPh** was obtained as a fine pale yellow powder. Yield 22% (0.140 g, 0.28 mmol). ³¹P{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 202.5 MHz): δ -10.2. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): δ 1.38 (d, *J* = 6.5 Hz, 12 H), 1.51 (br s, 12

H), 3.44 (sept, J = 6.5 Hz, 4 H), 4.03 (s, 4 H), 6.74-6.88 (m, 3 H), 6.96-7.06 (m, 2 H), 7.17 (br s, 4 H), 7.34 (br s, 2 H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125.7 MHz): δ 23.6 (br s), 25.9, 28.8, 52.8 (br s), 124.3, 125.0, 126.5, 128.8, 136.5 (d, $J_{PC} = 14$ Hz), 138.1 (d, $J_{PC} = 41$ Hz), 147.6, 186.9 (d, $J_{PC} = 84$ Hz, C_{carbene}).

Preparation of adduct 25 PPh: Dichlorophosphine (0.303 g, 1.68 mmol) was added at room temperature to a solution of **25** (0.610 g, 1.68 mmol) in benzene (40 mL) to produce a yellow slurry. The mixture was then stirred overnight and cannula filtered. The solids were washed with hexane (3 X 15 mL) and the resulting powder was dried *in vacuo*. Magnesium (0.082 g, 3.36 mmol) was then added to the solid followed by the addition of THF (25 mL). The mixture was stirred overnight and the volatiles removed *in vacuo*. The product was extracted with hexane (50 mL) and the solvent subsequently removed *in vacuo* giving **25 PPh** as a yellow powder. Yield 10% (0.077 g, 0.16 mmol). ³¹P{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 121 MHz): δ +39.7. ¹H NMR (C₆D₆, 500 MHz): δ 1.21 (s, 6H), 1.93 (s, 3H), 2.12 (s, 3H), 2.14 (s, 6H), 2.43 (s, 6H), 3.04 (br s, 2 H), 6.22 (s, 2 H), 6.60-6.65 (m, 2 H), 6.75-6.71 (m, 1 H), 6.86 (s, 2H), 6.92-6.96 (m, 2 H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 128.1, 129.6, 129.7, 134.2, 134.7, 136.0 (d, *J*_{PC} = 5 Hz), 136.2, 138.0, 138.3 (d, *J*_{PC} = 46 Hz), 139.8, 169.6, 180.3 (d, *J*_{PC} = 82 Hz, C_{carbenc}).

Preparation of adduct 26'PPh: Dichlorophenylphosphine (0.411 g, 2.29 mmol) was added to a solution of **26** (2.14 mmol) prepared *in situ* at -78°C in THF (20 mL). After slowly warming to room temperature, the mixture was stirred overnight. The volatiles were removed *in vacuo* and the resulting solid was washed with hexane (2 X 15 mL). Magnesium (0.110 g, 4.5 mmol) was added to the solid followed by the addition of THF

(20 mL). The mixture was stirred for 5 hours and the volatiles subsequently removed *in vacuo*. The product was extracted with benzene (2 x 10mL) and the solvent was removed *in vacuo*. The resulting solid was washed with pentane (10 mL) and dried *in vacuo* affording **26'PPh** as a yellow powder. Yield 85% (0.700 g, 1.78 mmol). ³¹P{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 121 MHz): δ +34.9; ¹H NMR (C₆D₆, 400 MHz): δ 0.9-1.8 (m, 5H), 1.18 (d, *J* = 7 Hz, 3 H), 1.21 (d, *J* = 7 Hz, 3 H), 1.41 (d, *J* = 7 Hz, 3 H), 1.62 (d, *J* = 7 Hz, 3 H), 2.5-2.2 (m, 2H), 3.0-3.4 (m, 6H), 7.2-6.8 (m, 7H), 7.85 (t, *J* = 7 Hz, 1 H); ¹³C{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 125 MHz): δ 21.1, 22.3, 23.6, 24.4, 24.5, 24.6, 25.4, 28.2, 28.9, 29.7, 30.1, 50.1 (d, *J*_{PC} = 2 Hz), 56.1 (d, *J*_{PC} = 7 Hz), 56.7, 125.1, 125.2, 127.5, 128.9, 134.4 (d, *J*_{PC} = 16 Hz), 140.3 (d, *J*_{PC} = 3 Hz), 144.3 (d, *J*_{PC} = 44 Hz), 144.7 (d, *J*_{PC} = 16 Hz), 148.0 (d, *J*_{PC} = 3 Hz), 199.9 (d, *J*_{PC} = 61 Hz, C_{carbene}).

Preparation of adduct 27 PPh: Dichlorophenylphosphine (0.411 g, 2.29 mmol) was added at room temperature to a solution of **27** (2.0 mmol) in a 1:2 hexane/benzene mixture (30 mL). The mixture was stirred overnight and the precipitate was cannula filtered and washed with diethylether (2 X 15 mL). The solid was dried *in vacuo*. Magnesium (0.100 g, 4 mmol) was added to the solid followed by the addition of THF (20 mL). The mixture was stirred 3 hours after which the volatiles were removed *in vacuo* and the product extracted with benzene (2 X 10mL). Removing the solvent *in vacuo* afforded **27 PPh** as a yellow powder. Yield 40% (0.470 g, 0.92 mmol). ³¹P{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 121 MHz): δ +14.8; ¹H NMR (C₆D₆, 400 MHz): δ 1.15 (d. *J* = 10 Hz, 12 H), 1.65 (quint, *J* = 8 Hz, 2 H), 3.22 (dt. *J* = 3 and 8 Hz, 4 H), 3.35 (sept, *J* = 10 Hz, 4 H), 6.7-7.2 (m, 12 H); ¹³C{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 100 MHz): δ 22.8, 24.0, 24.1, 25.9, 28.9, 51.9, 124.3, 124.8, 125.2, 127.0 (d, *J*_{PC} = 3 Hz), 130.0, 137.3 (d,

 $J_{\rm PC}$ = 15 Hz), 142.3 (d, $J_{\rm PC}$ = 66 Hz), 146.1 (d, $J_{\rm PC}$ = 2 Hz), 186.5 (d, $J_{\rm PC}$ = 94 Hz,

C_{carbene}).

3) Crystallographic data

Crystallographic Data and Structure Refinement

Compound	18 [.] PPh	19 [.] PPh
CCDC #	916091	916092
Empiric Formula	$C_{29}H_{40}NP$	C ₃₃ H ₄₈ NP
Fw (g/mol)	433.59	489.69
Crystal system	Triclinic	Monoclinic
Space group	P-1	$P2_1$
Radiation, λ (Å)	0.71073	0.71073
T (K)	100(2)	100(2)
a (Å)	8.6558(7)	19.4956(17)
<i>b</i> (Å)	10.8178(8)	15.7636(15)
<i>c</i> (Å)	14.3821(9)	21.397(3)
α (deg)	104.962(2)	90
β (deg)	93.145(3)	117.028(3)
γ (deg)	99.053(3)	90
$V(Å^3)$	1278.38(16)	5857.5(10)
Ζ	2	8
$d_{\text{calcd}} (g \cdot \text{cm}^{-3})$	1.126	1.111
$R1[I > 2\sigma(I)]$	0.0370	0.0612
$wR2(F^2)$	0.0965	0.1174
GOF (S)	1.060	1.006

E) References

- (1) Breslow, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1958.
- Henrique Teles, J.; Melder, J. P.; Ebel, K.; Schneider, R.; Gehrer, E.; Harder, W.; Brode, S.; Enders, D.; Breuer, K.; Raabe, G. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 1996, 79, 61–83.
- (3) Enders, D.; Niemeier, O.; Henseler, A. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 5606–5655.
- (4) Moore, J. L.; Rovis, T. Asymmetric Organocatalysis **2009**, 291, 77–144.
- (5) Sen, T. K.; Sau, S. C.; Mukherjee, A.; Modak, A.; Mandal, S. K.; Koley, D. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 11972.
- (6) Ohmatsu, K.; Kiyokawa, M.; Ooi, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133, 1307–1309.
- (7) Hirano, K.; Piel, I.; Glorius, F. *Chemistry Letters* **2011**, *40*, 786–791.
- (8) Ryan, S. J.; Candish, L.; Lupton, D. W. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2013, 42, 4906–4917.
- (9) Fèvre, M.; Pinaud, J.; Gnanou, Y.; Vignolle, J.; Taton, D. Chem. Soc. Rev. **2013**, *42*, 2142–2172.
- (10) Donnelly, K. F.; Petronilho, A.; Albrecht, M. Chem. Commun. 2013, 49, 1145.
- (11) Martin, D.; Canac, Y.; Lavallo, V.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2014, 136, 5023–5030.
- (12) Lavallo, V.; Canac, Y.; Donnadieu, B.; Schoeller, W. W.; Bertrand, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2006**, *45*, 3488–3491.
- (13) Dixon, D. A.; Arduengo, A. J., III; Dobbs, K. D.; Khasnis, D. V. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1995**, *36*, 645–648.
- (14) Back, O.; Donnadieu, B.; Parameswaran, P.; Frenking, G.; Bertrand, G. *Nat. Chem.* 2010.
- (15) Lavallo, V.; Canac, Y.; Präsang, C.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. Angew. *Chem. Int. Ed.* **2005**, *44*, 5705–5709.
- (16) Viciu, M. S.; Germaneau, R. F.; Nolan, S. P. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 4053–4056.
- (17) Tolman, C. A. *Chem. Rev.* **1977**, *77*, 313–348.

- (18) Dorta, R.; Stevens, E. D.; Scott, N. M.; Costabile, C.; Cavallo, L.; Hoff, C. D.; Nolan, S. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 2485–2495.
- (19) Kalescky, R.; Kraka, E.; Cremer, D. *Inorg. Chem.* **2013**, *53*, 478–495.
- (20) Chianese, A. R.; Li, X.; Janzen, M. C.; Faller, J. W.; Crabtree, R. H. Organometallics 2003, 22, 1663–1667.
- (21) Allen, D. P.; Crudden, C. M.; Calhoun, L. A.; Wang, R.; Decken, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 2005, 690, 5736–5746.
- (22) Fürstner, A.; Alcarazo, M.; Krause, H.; Lehmann, C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2007**, *129*, 12676–12677.
- (23) Braun, M.; Frank, W.; Reiss, G. J.; Ganter, C. Organometallics 2010, 29, 4418–4420.
- (24) Dröge, T.; Glorius, F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 6940–6952.
- (25) Kelly, R. A., III; Clavier, H.; Giudice, S.; Scott, N. M.; Stevens, E. D.; Bordner, J.; Samardjiev, I.; Hoff, C. D.; Cavallo, L.; Nolan, S. P. Organometallics 2008, 27, 202–210.
- (26) Gusev, D. G. Organometallics **2009**, *28*, 763–770.
- (27) Lever, A. B. P. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 1271–1285.
- (28) Lever, A. B. P. *Inorg. Chem.* **1991**, *30*, 1980–1985.
- (29) Mercs, L.; Labat, G.; Neels, A.; Ehlers, A.; Albrecht, M. Organometallics **2006**, *25*, 5648–5656.
- (30) Leuthaeusser, S.; Schwarz, D.; Plenio, H. Chem. Eur. J. 2007, 13, 7195–7203.
- (31) Vorfalt, T.; Leuthäußer, S.; Plenio, H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 5191– 5194.
- (32) Wolf, S.; Plenio, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 2009, 694, 1487–1492.
- (33) Savka, R. D.; Plenio, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 2012, 710, 68–74.
- (34) Mondal, K. C.; Roesky, H. W.; Schwarzer, M. C.; Frenking, G.; Tkach, I.; Wolf, H.; Kratzert, D.; Herbst-Irmer, R.; Niepötter, B.; Stalke, D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 52, 1801–1805.

- (35) Singh, A. P.; Samuel, P. P.; Roesky, H. W.; Schwarzer, M. C.; Frenking, G.; Sidhu, N. S.; Dittrich, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2013**, 135, 7324–7329.
- (36) Samuel, P. P.; Mondal, K. C.; Roesky, H. W.; Hermann, M.; Frenking, G.; Demeshko, S.; Meyer, F.; Stückl, A. C.; Christian, J. H.; Dalal, N. S.; Ungur, L.; Chibotaru, L. F.; Pröpper, K.; Meents, A.; Dittrich, B. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 11817–11821.
- (37) Weinberger, D. S.; Melaimi, M.; Moore, C. E.; Rheingold, A. L.; Frenking, G.; Jerabek, P.; Bertrand, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 8964–8967.
- Weinberger, D. S.; Amin SK, N.; Mondal, K. C.; Melaimi, M.; Bertrand, G.;
 Stückl, A. C.; Roesky, H. W.; Dittrich, B.; Demeshko, S.; Schwederski, B.;
 Kaim, W.; Jerabek, P.; Frenking, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2014, 136, 6235–6238.
- (39) Huynh, H. V.; Han, Y.; Jothibasu, R.; Yang, J. A. Organometallics **2009**, *28*, 5395–5404.
- (40) Yuan, D.; Huynh, H. V. Organometallics **2012**, *31*, 405–412.
- (41) Parr, R. G.; Yang, W. Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 1995, 46, 701–728.
- (42) Fukui, K.; Yonezawa, T.; Shingu, H. J. Chem. Phys. 1952, 20, 722.
- (43) Frey, G. D.; Lavallo, V.; Donnadieu, B.; Schoeller, W. W.; Bertrand, G. *Science* **2007**, *316*, 439–441.
- (44) Bourissou, D.; Guerret, O.; Gabbai, F. P.; Bertrand, G. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 39–91.
- (45) Zhang, G.; Musgrave, C. B. J. Phys. Chem. A 2007, 111, 1554–1561.
- (46) Perrin, L.; Clot, E.; Eisenstein, O.; Loch, J.; Crabtree, R. H. *Inorg. Chem.* 2001, 40, 5806–5811.
- (47) Gusev, D. G. Organometallics **2009**, *28*, 6458–6461.
- (48) Hoffmann, R.; Schleyer, P. V. R.; Schaefer, H. F., III. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2008**, *47*, 7164–7167.
- (49) Back, O.; Kuchenbeiser, G.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 5530–5533.
- Wang, Y.; Xie, Y.; Wei, P.; King, R. B.; Schaefer, H. F., III; R Schleyer, von,
 P.; Robinson, G. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 14970–14971.

- (51) Rozhenko, AB; Schoeller, W.; Povolotskii, M. I. *Magn. Reson. Chem.* **1999**, *37*, 551–563.
- (52) Frison, G.; Sevin, A. J. Organomet. Chem. 2002, 643-644, 105–111.
- (53) Rosa, P.; Gouverd, C.; Bernardinelli, G.; Berclaz, T.; Geoffroy, M. J. Phys. Chem. A 2003, 107, 4883–4892.
- (54) Cowley, A. H.; Jones, R. A.; Lasch, J. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1984**, 106, 7015–7020.
- (55) Markovski, L. N.; Romanenko, V. D. *Tetrahedron* **1989**, *45*, 6019–6090.
- (56) Gaumont, A. C.; Denis, J. M. Chem. Rev. **1994**, *94*, 1413–1439.
- (57) Weber, L. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 2425–2441.
- (58) Weber, L.; Lassahn, U.; Stammler, H. G.; Neumann, B. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **2005**, *2005*, 4590–4597.
- (59) Le Floch, P. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2006, 250, 627–681.
- (60) Weber, L. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2007, 2007, 4095–4117.
- (61) Oehme, H.; Leissring, E.; Meyer, H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1980**, *21*, 1141–1144.
- (62) Oehme, H.; Leissring, E.; Meyer, H. Z. Chem. 1981, 21, 407–408.
- (63) Becker, G.; Uhl, W.; Wessely, H.-J. R. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1981, 479, 41– 56.
- (64) Appel, R.; Peters, J.; Westerhaus, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1981**, *22*, 4957–4960.
- (65) Appel, R.; Halstenberg, M.; Knoch, F.; Kunze, H. *Chem. Ber.* **1982**, *115*, 2371–2373.
- (66) Appel, R.; Laubach, B.; Siray, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1984**, *25*, 4447–4448.
- (67) Appel, R.; Casser, C.; Immenkeppel, M.; Knoch, F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **1984**, 23, 895–896.
- (68) Ionkin, A. S.; Arbuzov, B. A. Bull. Acad. Sci. USSR, Div. Chem. Sci. (Engl. Transl.) 1990.

- (69) Cummins, C. C.; Schrock, R. R.; Davis, W. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1993, 32, 756–759.
- (70) Suzuki, M.; Sho, K.; Otani, K.; Haruyama, T.; Saegusa, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 1191–1192.
- (71) Gaumont, A. C.; Guillemin, J. C.; Denis, J. M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1994**, 945.
- Gaumont, A. C.; Pellerin, B.; Cabioch, J. L.; Morise, X.; Lesvier, M.; Savignac,
 P.; Guenot, P.; Denis, J. M. *Inorg. Chem.* 1996, *35*, 6667–6675.
- (73) Decken, A.; Carmalt, C. J.; Clyburne, J. A. C.; Cowley, A. H. *Inorg. Chem.* **1997**, *36*, 3741–3744.
- (74) Conejero, S.; Song, M.; Martin, D.; Canac, Y.; Soleilhavoup, M.; Bertrand, G. *Chem. Asian J.* **2006**, *1*, 155–160.
- (75) Wright, V. A.; Patrick, B. O.; Schneider, C.; Gates, D. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2006**, *128*, 8836–8844.
- (76) Arduengo, A. J.; Calabrese, J. C.; Cowley, A. H.; Dias, H.; Goerlich, J. R.; Marshall, W. J.; Riegel, B. *Inorg. Chem.* **1997**, *36*, 2151–2158.
- (77) Back, O.; Henry Ellinger, M.; Martin, C. D.; Martin, D.; Bertrand, G. Angew. *Chem. Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 2939–2943.
- (78) Rodrigues, R. R.; Dorsey, C. L.; Arceneaux, C. A.; Hudnall, T. W. Chem. Commun. 2014, 50, 162–164.
- (79) Issleib, K.; Leissring, E.; Schmidt, H. *Phosphorus Sulfur Relat. Elem.* **1983**, *18*, 15–18.
- (80) Fantasia, S.; Petersen, J. L.; Jacobsen, H.; Cavallo, L.; Nolan, S. P. Organometallics 2007, 26, 5880–5889.
- (81) Saravanakumar, S.; Oprea, A. I.; Kindermann, M. K.; Jones, P. G.; Heinicke, J. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2006**, *12*, 3143–3154.
- (82) Buchanan, G. L. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1974, 3, 41–63.
- (83) Does, T. V. D.; Bickelhaupt, F. *Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem.* **1990**, 49-50, 281–284.
- (84) Lemal, D. M.; Banitt, E. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1964**, *5*, 245–251.

- (85) Tukov, A. A.; Normand, A. T.; Nechaev, M. S. *Dalton Trans.* **2009**, 7015–7028.
- (86) Fox, B. J.; Sun, Q. Y.; DiPasquale, A. G.; Fox, A. R.; Rheingold, A. L.; Figueroa, J. S. *Inorg. Chem.* 2008, 47, 9010–9020.
- (87) Zhou, X.-G.; Zhang, L.-B.; Cai, R.-F.; Wu, Q.-J.; Weng, L.-H.; Huang, Z.-E. J. Organomet. Chem. 2000, 604, 260–266.
- (88) Yoshifuji, M.; Shibayama, K.; Inamoto, N.; Matsushita, T.; Nishimoto, K. J. *Am. Chem. Soc.* **1983**, *105*, 2495–2497.
- (89) David, G.; Goenna, von der, V.; Niecke, E.; Busch, T.; Schoeller, W. W.; Rademacher, P. *Faraday Trans.* **1994**, *90*, 2611.
- (90) Kolodiazhnyi, O. I. *Phosphorus Sulfur Relat. Elem.* **1983**, *18*, 39–42.
- (91) Shah, S.; Protasiewicz, J. D. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1585–1586.
- (92) Appel, R.; Paulen, W. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1983, 22, 785–786.
- (93) Lavallo, V.; Mafhouz, J.; Canac, Y.; Donnadieu, B.; Schoeller, W. W.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 8670–8671.
- (94) Alder, R. W.; Allen, P. R.; Murray, M.; Orpen, A. G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **1996**, 35, 1121–1123.
- (95) Piel, I.; Pawelczyk, M. D.; Hirano, K.; Fröhlich, R.; Glorius, F. Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem. 2011, 2011, 5475–5484.
- (96) Arduengo, A. J., III; Krafczyk, R.; Schmutzler, R. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 14523–14534.
- (97) Starikova, O. V.; Dolgushin, G. V.; Larina, L. I.; Komarova, T. N.; Lopyrev, V. A. *Arkivoc* 2003, 119–124.
- (98) Lavallo, V.; Canac, Y.; Donnadieu, B.; Schoeller, W. W.; Bertrand, G. *Science* **2006**, *312*, 722–724.
- (99) Niehues, M.; Kehr, G.; Erker, G.; Wibbeling, B.; Fröhlich, R.; Blacque, O.; Berke, H. J. Organomet. Chem. 2002, 663, 192–203.
- (100) Blake, G. A.; Moerdyk, J. P.; Bielawski, C. W. Organometallics 2012, 31, 3373–3378.

(101) Martin, D.; Lassauque, N.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51*, 6172–6175.

CHAPTER 2:

Toward the Synthesis of New Free Carbenes

A) Toward carbenes with increased electrophilicity

1) Introduction

In 2009, Bielawski described the synthesis of the first diamido carbene Ia.¹ This carbene differs from classical diamino carbenes II, as its nitrogen substituents are included in amide functional groups. Consequently, diamido carbenes I are less nucleophilic than their diamino counterparts II.² In addition, the carbonyl moiety of the amide function competes with the carbene center for the π -donation of the nitrogen atom. As a result, the stabilization of the carbene empty orbital is weaker than in diamino carbenes II and therefore, diamido carbenes of type I are more electrophilic (Figure 2.1). This is confirmed experimentally by the observation of the ³¹P NMR chemical shift of their respective carbene-phenylphosphinidene adducts (see Chapter 1).^{3,4}



Figure 2.1: Diamido I, diamino II, cyclic (alkyl)(amino) III and cyclic (alkyl)(amido) carbenes IV

This pronounced electrophilicity confers diamido carbenes **I** a reactivity that is significantly different from diamino carbenes **II**. The former can react with isocyanides to form stable ketenimines,⁵ reversibly bind carbon monoxide¹ and even react with ammonia⁶ (Scheme 2.1). All these reactions are unparalleled in the case of diamino carbenes **I** but are highly reminiscent of the reactivity of another class of carbenes with enhanced electrophilicity, namely the cyclic (alkyl)(amino)carbenes **III** (Figure2.1).⁷⁻⁹



Scheme 2.1: Reactivity of diamido carbene Ia

Based on the observation that the transformation of an amino substituent into an amido substituent results in enhanced carbene electrophilicity, we decided to explore the possibility of translating this phenomenon to cyclic (alkyl)(amino)carbenes **III** and consequently aimed our efforts at cyclic (alkyl)(amido)carbenes **IV** (Figure 2.1). Indeed, carbenes of type **IV** would possess a very strong electrophilic character and extend the scope of available electrophilic carbenes.^{1,2,10-12} Indeed, the variation of the electronic properties of carbenes leads to different reactivities. For example, the reaction of P₄ with carbenes can lead to fragmentation of the P₄ cage¹³ or aggregation of two or more P₄ units.¹⁴⁻¹⁶

2) Synthesis of the precursor and attempts to generate the carbene

Diamido carbenes I are obtained by the deprotonation of the appropriate precursors IHCl (Scheme 2.2a). Such precursors are easily obtained by reacting a formamidine with dimethylmalonyl dichloride 1 in the presence of triethylamine. Typically, precursors of diamino carbenes II and cyclic (alkyl)(amino) carbenes III are ionic salts (imidazolinium and iminium salts, for the respective precursors of carbenes of type II and III). In contrast, the precursors I'HCl are neutral compounds.

We reasoned that the replacement of the formamidine by the lithium salt of an aldimine would afford the precursor of cyclic (alkyl)(amido)carbenes **IV** (Scheme 2.2b). Indeed, when **1** is reacted with the lithium salt of N-(2,6-diisopropylphenyl)-cyclohexylcarbaldimine **2**, the desired precursor **IVa'HCl** is obtained in 52% yield.



Scheme 2.2: (a) Synthesis of carbenes I, and (b) Synthesis of carbene precursor IVa HCl

The neutral nature of **IVaHCl** is evidenced by its NMR spectra. The ¹³C NMR spectrum displays signals corresponding to 24 different carbon atoms clearly indicating

the asymmetric nature of **IVa'HCI**. Notably, no signal corresponding to a $C_{carbene}$ -H can be found in the typical range for the precursors of carbenes **II** and **III** (160-200 ppm). Instead, the chemical shift of the carbon of the potential carbene center can be found at 85.1 ppm, a much higher filed shift that is inconsistent with a sp²-hybridized carbon involved in an iminium moiety. Similarly, the ¹H NMR spectrum of **IVa'HCI** shows no signal in the typical range for the proton of typical salt precursors (*ca.* 8-11 ppm). Instead, a singlet corresponding to one proton can be found at 5.48 ppm. In addition, all four CH₃ groups from the isopropyl fragments are inequivalent, and the two CH₃ from the malonyl unit are also inequivalent. Such a splitting is characteristic of diastereotopic protons and confirms the asymmetric nature of **IVa'HCI**. Such a covalent nature of the precursor, as opposed to traditional carbenium salts, is a good indication of the potential electrophilicity of the targeted carbene and is reminiscent of the behavior of diamido carbene precursors **I'HCI**.

The precursor IVa·HCl in hand, we attempted to generate the free carbene via the classical route of deprotonation with a strong base. To our surprise, all attempts were unsuccessful. Variation of the experimental conditions, be it the base, the solvent (Et₂O, THF, benzene) or the temperature resulted either in the absence of reaction (LiHMDS, NaHMDS, KHMDS) or in complex mixtures (LDA).

In order to obtain an ionic precursor similar to those of carbenes of type II and III, we attempted to abstract a chloride from IVa[•]HCl to generate a cationic precursor of type IVa[•]HOTf using TMSOTf or AgOTf resulted in the absence of reaction in the first case or in a complex mixture in the latter (Scheme 2.3).



Scheme 2.3: Attempts toward an activated precursor

3) Conclusion

Based on these results, we can conclude that deprotonation is not a viable route to access free carbenes of type IV. Similar issues were observed by Ganter¹⁷ in the case of 5-membered ring diamido carbene precursors Ic-e.HCl (Scheme 2.4a). However, in a recent report, Bielawski¹⁸ showed that carbene If and Ig can be synthesized by reduction of the dichloro precursors IfCl₂ and Ig·Cl₂ with potassium. These precursors are obtained by the condensation of the corresponding carbodiimide derivatives **3f** and **3g** with oxalyl chloride **4** (Scheme 2.4b). This methodology could be adapted to 5-membered ring carbene precursors of type IV·Cl₂ by substituting the carbodiimide for a ketenimine, and even to 6-membered ring carbene precursors of type IV·Cl₂ by replacing oxalyl chloride **4** by dimethylmalonyl dichloride **1** to access (Scheme 2.4c).



Scheme 2.4: (a) Deprotonation and reduction approaches to 5-membered carbenes I reported in the literature, (b) Synthesis of carbene precursors If Cl₂ and Ig[•]Cl₂, and (c) Proposed synthesis of carbene precursors of type IV[•]Cl₂

B) Toward new carbenes with remote stabilization

1) Introduction

To this day, isolated free carbenes possess at least one heteroatom substituent directly attached to the carbene center. The only notable exception is the cyclopropenylidene Va, which was developed by our group in 2006 (Figure 2.2).¹⁹



Figure 2.2: Cyclopropenylidene Va and its resonance structures showing ring aromaticity and remote stabilization from the nitrogen substituents

In Va, the carbene center is included in an all-carbon 3-membered ring and the heteroatomic substituents are found in exocyclic positions. The stability of Va was attributed to the combination of the pronounced s-character of its lone pair due to its confinement in a 3-membered ring, the aromaticity of the ring, and through conjugation with the exocyclic dialkylamino substituents (Figure 2.2). The isolation of the free carbene Va allowed for the synthesis of several transition metal complexes that were not previously available through traditional methods relying on the oxidative addition of a metal complex to a suitable carbene precursor,²⁰ for the development and use of similar *bis*-(amino)cyclopropenylidene as organocatalysts,²¹ and opened unprecedented reactions between P₄ and carbenes.¹³

Inspired by this work, we decided to investigate the synthesis of other cyclic carbenes with remote stabilization through extended conjugation with π -donating substituents. We reasoned that the stabilizing influence of the dialkylamino substituents of **Va** could be extended to more remote carbene centers trough a properly conjugated system. This reasoning was inspired by the synthesis of allenylidene lithium complex **VIa-Li**.²² Indeed, in **VIa** two amino substituents are remotely conjugated with the carbene empty orbital as illustrated by resonance form **VIa'**. This zwitterionic resonance

form features a positively charged 5-membered carbenium moiety connected to a negatively charged acetylide anion (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3: Resonance structure of carbene VIa and proposed target carbene VII

Based on this analysis, we reasoned that carbene **VII** could be attainable (Figure 2.3). Indeed, such a carbene can be described by the zwitterionic resonance structure **VII'** featuring a negatively charged phenylide moiety and a positively charged carbenium substituent (Figure 2.3). This observation encouraged us to attempt the synthesis of such remotely stabilized carbenes.

2) Synthesis of precursors and carbene generation attempts

Close examination of resonance structures **VII** and **VII'** (Figure 2.3) reveals that the stabilization of the empty orbital of the carbene (resonance form **VII**) is intimately linked to the ability of the remote substituent to accommodate a positive charge (resonance form **VII'**). We quickly realized that a cyclopropenylidene unit would not only fully satisfy these requirements, as the cyclopropenium cation is a well-known example of a stable carbenium ion, but also allow an easy access to suitable precursors. Indeed, a Friedel-Crafts alkylation of a carefully chosen benzene derivative by the trichlorocyclopropenium cation followed by the substitution of the cyclopropenium unit with a dialkylamine would provide the desired precursor. Adapting a procedure developed by Regitz,²³ we synthesized precursor **VIIa'HBF**₄ from durene **5-H** as the benzene derivative and diisopropylamine **6** as the amine partner in 91% yield (Scheme 2.5).



Scheme 2.5: Synthesis of precursors VIIa HBF4 and VIIa BrBF4

With precursor VIIa HBF₄ in hand, we attempted its deprotonation in order to obtain the free carbene. Unfortunately, all attempts resulted in complex reaction mixtures out of which no carbene could be isolated. Varying the experimental conditions, be it the solvent, the temperature or the base (KHMDS, *t*BuOK, LDA, TMPLi or *n*-BuLi) did not yield the desired carbene.

To circumvent this issue, we investigated the possibility of generating the carbene through reduction of precursor **VIIa**'**BrBF**₄. This compound was easily obtained in 84% yield using the same methodology as for **VIIa**'**HBF**₄ by using bromodurene **5-Br** as the Friedel-Crafts substrate (Scheme 2.5). Unfortunately, all reduction attempts failed to provide the desired carbene, no matter which reducing agent was used.

3) Conclusion

Despite all our attempts, carbenes of type **VII** still elude isolation. The failure of deprotonation approach could be explained by the presence of acidic benzylic proton on the designed precursor, which can compete with the proton on the aromatic 6-membered ring. Replacing durene **5-H** by other aromatic precursors, featuring methoxy or dimethylamino groups in place of the methyl substituents for example, could prevent this issue. However, such precursors are quite tedious and expensive to prepare, which led us to abandon this project.

C) Toward electron rich acyclic carbenes and their potential applications as organic reducing agents

1) Introduction

In 2011, our group reported the synthesis of phosphenium ion **VIIIa** (Figure 2.4).²⁴ In this molecule, the cationic phosphorus center is stabilized by to π -donating carbene-iminato substituents. We quickly realized that such substituents might prove to be equally efficient at stabilizing species isoelectronic to phosphenium ions and that, as such, carbenes of type **IX** were obvious targets (Figure 2.4).

Carbene-iminato substituents are strongly π -donating as illustrated by resonance structures **VIIIa'**, **VIIIa''**, **IX'** and **IX''**. Indeed, they can be seen as their resonance structure presenting a positively charged carbenium unit and a negatively charged nitrogen center (Figure 2.4).

Considering the 2-electron oxidation of carbenes IX, we realized that the resulting product can be seen as dicationic carbodiimides IX^{2+} where the central NCN fragment is

substituted by two positively charged carbenium groups (Figure 2.5). Such dicationic carbodiimides are not known. However, neutral carbodiimides form a very well known and widely developed family of stable molecules.



Figure 2.4: Phosphenium cation VIIIa and target carbenes of type IX and their respective resonance structures illustrating the π -donation of the carbene-iminato substituents.



Figure 2.5: Carbenes of type IX and carbodiimides IX²⁺

This observation led us to consider the potential of carbenes of type IX as organic reducing agents. Additionally, based on the knowledge of the π -accepting properties of carbenes (see Chapter 1), we reasoned that the variation of the carbene moiety of the carbene-iminato substituents would likely result in carbenes IX that are stabilized to different extents, resulting in different respective reductive abilities. Such organic reducing agents are reminiscent of tetraaminoethylenes²⁵ and would possess similar advantages of ease of handling, solubility, tunability and ease of by-product elimination when compared to classical metallic reducing agents.²⁶

2) Synthesis of precursors and carbene generation attempts

In 2012, Schröder²⁷ reported the synthesis of compounds $IXa HBF_4$ and $IXb HBF_4$ and studied their behavior by collision-induced dissociation mass spectrometry (Scheme 2.6).

Scheme 2.6: Synthesis of precursors IXa HBF₄ and IXb HBF₄

We reasoned that those precursors would likely lead to unstable carbenes as the alkyl R substituents could migrate to the carbene center.²⁸ However, we quickly realized that this synthetic strategy would provide a versatile access to the desired precursors with different carbene-iminato moieties (Scheme 2.7). Indeed, starting from formamidine hydrochloride **8** and appropriate substrates **7c-f**, we were able to synthesize precursors **IXc-fHBF**₄ in moderate to good yields (42-91%).



Scheme 2.7: Synthesis of precursors IXc-fHBF₄

We first attempted to deprotonate precursor **IXc'HBF**₄ using KHMDS. However, no clean reaction occurred. Variation of the base and other experimental conditions only resulted in complex mixtures from which no desired carbene could be isolated. We reasoned that the acidic hydrogen atoms which **IXc'HBF**₄ possesses on its imidazole moieties,²⁹ could compete with the proton on the central carbon leading to the observed mixtures (Figure 2.6).



Figure 2.6: Acidic protons of IXc⁻HBF₄

In order to eliminate this possibility, we turned our attention to precursor **IXd'HBF**₄ in which the imidazole protons have been replaced by chlorine atoms. Unfortunately, all attempts at deprotonating **IXd'HBF**₄ resulted in equally complex mixtures. Precursor **IXe'HBF**₄, derived from carbene **Va** proved to be equally unsuitable. We realized that for each of these precursors, the free carbenes (type **X** for **IXc'HBF**₄ and **IXd'HBF**₄ and **Va** for **IXd'HBF**₄), corresponding to the carbene-iminato substituents were all good leaving groups as illustrated by their use as organocatalysts. ^{21,30} Suspicions arose that the action of the base on those precursors could result in the departure of the carbene unit of one carbene-iminato substituent, leading to the corresponding free carbene on one hand and a cyanamide on the other (Scheme 2.8). The two newly generated molecules could then react together, leading to various possible products.





We decided to consider precursor **IXfHBF**₄. In this precursor, the carbeneiminato substituent is derived from a cyclic (alkyl)(amino)carbene **IIIa**. Carbenes of type **III** are notably stronger σ -donors as well as significantly stronger π -acceptors than carbenes of type **X** or **Va** as demonstrated in Chapter 1, and as such, we can expect them to be poorer leaving group. Unfortunately, the reaction of **IXfHBF**₄ also resulted in complex mixtures in all the attempted conditions.

3) Conclusion

Despite all our efforts, carbenes of type **IX** still elude isolation. A possible solution to this problem could be the replacement of the carbene-iminato substituents by N-heterocyclic alkenes, leading to carbenes of type **XI**. The replacement of the nitrogen atom by a carbon atom could result in a structure that is less prone to dissociation and potentially allow for the isolation of the desired carbenes (Scheme 2.9a). Precursors to carbenes of type **XI** could be obtained by adapting the methodology developed by Reichardt (Scheme 2.9b).³¹



Scheme 2.9: Proposed syntheses of (a) carbenes of type XI and (b) their precursors XI HBF₄

D) Conclusions

With the ultimate goal to extend the scope of known stable carbenes, we synthesized precursors to strongly electrophilic carbenes, to carbenes with remote electronic stabilization and to carbenes of potential interest as organic reducing agents. Unfortunately, all attempts at generating these new carbenes failed to yield the desired compounds. We proposed possible explanations to these results and potential routes to circumvent these issues. Some of these are currently under investigation in our group.

E) Appendix: Experimental section

1) General considerations

All manipulations were performed under an atmosphere of dry argon using standard Schlenk techniques or in an argon filled glove box. Solvents were dried by standard methods and distilled under argon. Imine 2^{32} and precursors $7c_{.}^{33}$ $7d_{.}^{33}$ and $7e^{33}$ were prepared according to literature procedures. 7f was synthesized starting from carbene IIIa by adapting a previously published procedure.³⁴ Dimethylmalonyl dichloride 1 (TCI America), durene 5-H (Aldrich), bromodurene 5-Br (Aldrich), diisopropylamine 6 (Aldrich), formamidine hydrochloride 8 (Aldrich) and NaBF₄ (Aldrich) were purchased from commercial sources and used without further purification. KF was purchased from Aldrich and dried under vacuum at 150 °C overnight prior to use. Deuterated solvents were purchased from Cambridge Isotope Laboratories and distilled over CaH₂. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on Varian Inova 300, 400, 500 or Bruker 300, 400, 500 or JEOL 500 MHz spectrometers at 25 °C. Chemical shifts are given in ppm and are referenced to SiMe₄ (¹H, ¹³C). NMR multiplicities are abbreviated as follows: s = singlet. d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quadruplet, quint = quintet, sept = septet, oct = octuplet, m = multiplet, br = broad signal.

2) Synthesis of precursors

a) Toward carbenes with increased electrophilicity

Preparation of precursor IVa HCl: A solution of 4.10 g (15.1 mmol) of imine **2** in 20 mL Et₂O was slowly added to a solution of 1.70 g of LDA (15.9 mmol, 1.05 eq.) in 20 mL Et₂O. The resulting mixture was stirred at room temperature for 3 hours and then the volatiles were removed under vacuum. The residue was dissolved in 40 mL Et₂O and the

solution was then cooled to -78 °C. 2 mL (2.56 g, 15.1 mmol) of **1** were added to the solution causing the formation of a white precipitate. The resulting mixture was allowed to warm up to room temperature and stirred overnight. The solvent was removed under vacuum and the residue was extracted with 3 x 10 mL of dichloromethane. The extract was evaporated under vacuum and washed with 10 mL Et₂O, affording **IVa**'**HCl** as an off-white solid (3.20 g, 52 %). ¹H (CDCl₃, 300 MHz): δ = 7.40 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.26 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 5.48 (s, 1H), 3.13 (sept, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 3.01 (sept, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 2.51 (br m, 1H), 2.39 (br m, 1H), 1.10-2.15 (m, 8H), 1.60 (s, 3H), 1.49 (s, 3H), 1.34 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H), 1.26 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H), 1.17 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H), 1.06 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 75.4 MHz): δ = 209.5, 174.8, 148.0, 145.5, 134.9, 129.6, 125.3, 124.5, 85.1, 55.1, 52.0, 33.9, 32.0, 28.9, 27.9, 25.8, 25.6, 25.5, 23.8, 23.5, 23.3, 23.0, 22.3

b) Toward new carbenes with remote stabilization

Preparation of precursor VIIa'HBF4: A suspension of 2.17g (16.3 mmol) of AlCl₃ in 30 mL dichloromethane was cooled to -78 °C. 2mL (2.90 g, 16.3 mmol) of tetrachlorocyclopropene were added dropwise to the suspension. The resulting mixture was then allowed to warm up to room temperature and stirred for a additional 30 min. The reaction medium was then cooled to 0 °C and a solution of 2.41 g (17.9 mmol, 1.1 eq.) of durene **5-H** in 20 mL dichloromethane was added. The resulting mixture was stirred for 30 min at this temperature, which yielded a clear yellow solution. A solution of 15 mL (10.83 g, 107mmol, 6.6 eq.) of diisopropylamine **6** in 50 mL dichloromethane was added dropwise while keeping the reaction mixture temperature at 0 °C. The resulting solution was allowed to slowly warm up to room temperature and stirred overnight. A solution of 10 g (91mmol, 5.6 eq.) of NaBF4 in 100 mL H₂O was then added to the

reaction mixture and the resulting biphasic mixture was stirred for an hour. The organic layer was separated, washed with 3 x 25 mL H₂O and then concentrated to dryness using a rotary evaporator. The residue was then dissolved in a minimal amount of dichloromethane and added dropwise to 500 mL Et₂O under vigorous stirring, resulting in the precipitation of a white solid. The precipitate was filtered out and then dried under vacuum to afford **VIIa'HBF**₄ (6.80 g, 91 %). ¹H (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): δ = 7.09 (s, 1H), 4.23 (sept, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 3.75 (sept, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 2.23 (s, 6H), 2.06 (s, 6H), 1.44 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 12H), 1.11 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 12H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125.7 MHz): δ = 135.5, 135.4, 133.7, 132.0, 125.7, 109.8, 58.1, 47.7, 22.1, 21.0, 19.9, 18.2

Preparation of precursor VIIa'BrBF₄: A suspension of 2.17g (16.3 mmol) of AlCl₃ in 30 mL dichloromethane was cooled to -78 °C. 2mL (2.90 g, 16.3 mmol) of tetrachlorocyclopropene were added dropwise to the suspension. The resulting mixture was then allowed to warm up to room temperature and stirred for a additional 30 min. The reaction medium was then cooled to 0 °C and a solution of 3.82 g (17.9 mmol, 1.1 eq.) of 3-bromodurene **5-Br** in 20 mL dichloromethane was added. The resulting mixture was stirred for 3 hours at this temperature, which yielded a clear yellow solution. A solution of 15 mL (10.83 g, 107mmol, 6.6 eq.) of diisopropylamine **6** in 50 mL dichloromethane was added dropwise while keeping the reaction mixture temperature at 0 °C. The resulting solution was allowed to slowly warm up to room temperature and stirred overnight. A solution of 10 g (91mmol, 5.6 eq.) of NaBF₄ in 100 mL H₂O was then added to the reaction mixture and the resulting biphasic mixture was stirred for an hour. The organic layer was separated, washed with 3 x 25 mL H₂O and then concentrated to dryness using a rotary evaporator. The residue was then dissolved in a
minimal amount of dichloromethane and added dropwise to 500 mL Et₂O under vigorous stirring, resulting in the precipitation of a white solid. The precipitate was filtered out and then dried under vacuum to afford **VIIa**'**BrBF**₄ (7.33 g, 84 %). ¹H (CDCl₃, 400 MHz): δ = 4.23 (sept, J = 6.7 Hz, 2H), 3.75 (sept, J = 6.7 Hz, 2H), 2.42 (s, 6H), 2.18 (s, 6H), 1.43 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 12H), 1.11 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 12H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 100.6 MHz): δ = 136.1, 135.3, 133.4, 132.0, 125.4, 108.9, 58.2, 47.6, 22.2, 21.2, 21.0, 20.1

c) Toward electron rich acyclic carbenes and their potential applications as organic reducing agents

7f: 83 % yield, ¹H (CD₃CN, 500 MHz): δ = 7.60 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.52 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 2.64 (s, 2H), 2.57 (sept, *J* = 6.6Hz, 2H), 2.06-1.74 (m, 10H), 1.55 (s, 6H), 1.33 (d, *J* = 6.6Hz, 6H), 1.20 (d, *J* = 6.6Hz, 6H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CD₃CN, 125.7 MHz): δ = 191.2, 145.3, 133.1, 130.6, 127.3, 85.6, 58.6, 43.5, 36.2, 30.3, 29.1, 26.3, 24.9, 23.5, 21.7

General method for the synthesis of precursors IXc[·]HBF4, IXd[·]HBF4, IXe[·]HBF4 and IXf[·]HBF4 from compounds 7c, 7d, 7e and 7f respectively:

25mL of acetonitrile were added to a solid mixture of 5 mmol of **8** (403 mg), 80 mmol of KF (4.65g) and 10 mmol of the appropriate precursor **7**. The reaction medium was then stirred at 50 °C for 2 days. The mixture was then diluted with 25 mL of chloroform, filtered and the filtrate was evaporated to dryness. The residue was then dissolved in 50 mL chloroform and added to 50 mL of a 2 mol/L solution of NaBF₄. The biphasic mixture was then stirred overnight. The organic layer was separated and the aqueous layer washed twice with 25 mL chloroform. The organic layers were combined and evaporated to dryness. The residue was dissolved in a minimal amount of chloroform and the resulting solution was poured onto 250 mL of Et₂O under vigorous stirring, which

resulted in the precipitation of a white solid. If necessary, these precursors can be recrystallized from isopropanol.

Characterization of precursor IXc'HBF4: 81 % yield, ¹H (CDCl₃, 400 MHz): δ = 7.37 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 4H), 7.17 (s, 1H), 7.10 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 8H), 6.82 (s, 8H), 2.44 (sept, J = 6.9 Hz, 8H), 1.06 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 24 H), 0.78 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 24 H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 100.6 MHz): δ = 154.3, 146.3, 145.6, 130.8, 130.2, 124.8, 119.3, 29.0, 24.0, 23.2

Characterization of precursor IXd'HBF4: 84 % yield, ¹H (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): δ = 7.51 (t, J = 8.0 Hz, 4H), 7.21 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 8H), 7.18 (s, 1H), 2.29 (sept, J = 6.3 Hz, 8H), 1.14 (d, J = 6.3 Hz, 24 H), 076 (d, J = 6.3 Hz, 24 H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125.7 MHz): δ = 153.8, 146.2, 144.1, 132.2, 126.6, 125.3, 115.3, 29.5, 23.8, 23.6

Characterization of precursor IXe'HBF4: 42 % yield, ¹H (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): δ = 8.23 (s, 1H), 3.79 (sept, J = 6.7 Hz, 8H), 1.30 (d, J = 6.7Hz, 48H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125.7 MHz): δ = 162.2, 122.8 (br), 120.3, 51.1 (br), 22.1

Characterization of precursor IXfHBF4: 91 % yield, ¹H (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): δ = 8.65 (s, 1H), 7.31 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.13 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 4H), 2.64 (sept, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 4H), 2.33 (s, 4H), 1.85-1.35 (m, 20H), 1.31 (s, 12H), 1.22 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 12H), 0.81 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 12H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125.7 MHz): δ = 176.0, 151.9, 146.6, 129.9, 129.1, 124.7, 68.7, 49.9, 46.1, 35.2, 29.4, 25.9, 25.5, 25.0, 23.1, 21.8

F) References

- (1) Hudnall, T. W.; Bielawski, C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 16039–16041.
- (2) Martin, D.; Lassauque, N.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51*, 6172–6175.
- (3) Back, O.; Henry Ellinger, M.; Martin, C. D.; Martin, D.; Bertrand, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 2939–2943.
- (4) Rodrigues, R. R.; Dorsey, C. L.; Arceneaux, C. A.; Hudnall, T. W. *Chem. Commun.* **2014**, *50*, 162–164.
- (5) Hudnall, T. W.; Moorhead, E. J.; Gusev, D. G.; Bielawski, C. W. *J. Org. Chem.* **2010**, *75*, 2763–2766.
- (6) Hudnall, T. W.; Moerdyk, J. P.; Bielawski, C. W. *Chem. Commun.* **2010**, *46*, 4288–4290.
- (7) Lavallo, V.; Canac, Y.; Donnadieu, B.; Schoeller, W. W.; Bertrand, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2006**, *45*, 3488–3491.
- (8) Frey, G. D.; Lavallo, V.; Donnadieu, B.; Schoeller, W. W.; Bertrand, G. *Science* **2007**, *316*, 439–441.
- (9) Martin, D.; Canac, Y.; Lavallo, V.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2014, 136, 5023–5030.
- (10) Lavallo, V.; Mafhouz, J.; Canac, Y.; Donnadieu, B.; Schoeller, W. W.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 8670–8671.
- (11) Lavallo, V.; Canac, Y.; Präsang, C.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2005**, *44*, 5705–5709.
- (12) Hudnall, T. W.; Tennyson, A. G.; Bielawski, C. W. *Organometallics* **2010**, *29*, 4569–4578.
- (13) Back, O.; Kuchenbeiser, G.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2009**, *48*, 5530–5533.
- (14) Masuda, J. D.; Schoeller, W. W.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2007**, *129*, 14180–14181.
- (15) Martin, C. D.; Weinstein, C. M.; Moore, C. E.; Rheingold, A. L.; Bertrand, G. *Chem. Commun.* **2013**, *49*, 4486–4488.

- (16) Dorsey, C. L.; Squires, B. M.; Hudnall, T. W. *Angewandte Chemie* **2013**, *125*, 4558–4561.
- (17) Braun, M.; Frank, W.; Ganter, C. Organometallics 2012, 31, 1927–1934.
- (18) Moerdyk, J. P.; Bielawski, C. W. Chem. Commun. 2014, 50, 4551.
- (19) Lavallo, V.; Canac, Y.; Donnadieu, B.; Schoeller, W. W.; Bertrand, G. *Science* **2006**, *312*, 722–724.
- (20) Wanzlick, H. W. Angewandte Chemie 1962, 74, 129–134.
- (21) Wilde, M. M. D.; Gravel, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 12651–12654.
- (22) Fischer, E. O.; Maasböl, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1964, 3, 580–581.
- (23) Ofele, K. J. Organomet. Chem. 1968, 12, P42–P43.
- (24) Cardin, D. J.; Cetinkay, B.; Lappert, M. F.; Manojlov, L.; Muir, K. W. J. Chem. Soc. D 1971, 400–401.
- (25) Broggi, J.; Terme, T.; Vanelle, P. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2014, 53, 384–413.
- (26) Connelly, N. G.; Geiger, W. E. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 877–910.
- (27) Hérisson, J.-L.; Chauvin, Y. Makromol. Chem. 1971, 141, 161–176.
- (28) Guisado-Barrios, G.; Bouffard, J.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2010**, *49*, 4759–4762.
- (29) Mendoza-Espinosa, D.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132, 7264–7265.
- (30) Arduengo, A. J.; Harlow, R. L.; Kline, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1991**, *113*, 361–363.
- (31) Gamon, N.; Reichardt, C. *Liebigs Ann. Chem.* **1980**, *1980*, 2072–2094.
- (32) Enders, D.; Breuer, K.; Raabe, G.; Runsink, J.; Teles, J. H.; Melder, J. P.; Ebel, K.; Brode, S. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **1995**, *34*, 1021–1023.
- (33) Tang, P.; Wang, W.; Ritter, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133, 11482–11484.
- (34) Jin, L.; Melaimi, M.; Liu, L.; Bertrand, G. Org. Chem. Front. 2014, 1, 351–354.

CHAPTER 3:

A Stable Singlet Phosphinonitrene

Adapted from:

F. Dielmann, O. Back, M. Henry-Ellinger, P. Jerabek, G. Frenking, G. Bertrand,

Science, 2012, 337, 1526-1528

A) Introduction

Nitrenes are neutral compounds featuring a monovalent nitrogen atom possessing either a lone pair of electron and two singly occupied non-bonding orbitals (triplet state), or two lone pairs and a vacant orbital (singlet state). These molecules are the nitrogen analog of carbenes (Figure 3.1).





Nitrenes form a family of highly reactive species^{1,2} that has so far eluded the synthetic skills of chemists, with the only exception being metallonitrenes **I** (Figure 3.2a).³⁻⁷ The latter can be regarded as metal-nitrido ligands (L_nMN , where L is a ligand and M is a metal) since one contributing resonance structure features a metal-nitrogen triple bond (form **I'**, Figure 3.2a). A M-N σ -bond is formed through the interaction between a p_z or sp-hybridized orbital of the nitrogen atom and an orbital of σ -symmetry of the metal. Additionally, π -bonds can be formed from the interaction of the p_x and p_y orbitals of the nitrogen atom and the appropriate orbitals of π -symmetry of the metal center.

Non-metallic nitrenes, on the other hand, are short-lived intermediates, which have eluded isolation. The most stable non-metallic nitrenes are the aminonitrenes **II** synthesized by Dervan.⁸⁻¹³ **IIa** and **IIb** are stable enough in solution at -78 °C to allow

spectroscopic characterization and even purification by low-temperature chromatography at -88 °C. The relative stability of aminonitrenes **II** can be explained by the π -donation of the lone pair of the nitrogen atom of the amino substituent into the vacant orbital of the nitrene center as illustrated by the 1,1-diazene resonance form **II'** featuring a N-N double bond (Figure 3.2b). The stabilization of the empty orbital of electron deficient centers by two π -donating substituents is a well-known mechanism in carbene chemistry.¹⁴⁻¹⁶



Figure 3.2: (a) Metallonitrenes I, (b) aminonitrenes II, (c) phosphinonitrenes III and their relevant resonance structures. Spectroscopically characterized aminonitrenes (d) IIa and (e) IIb

Another common stabilization strategy in carbene chemistry is to combine the effect of a π -donating substituent to stabilize the empty orbital and of a π -accepting substituent to stabilize the carbene lone pair.^{17,18} However, whereas carbenes possess a dicoordinated carbon atom, nitrenes possess only a monocoordinated nitrogen atom. Consequently, in order to extend the latter strategy to nitrenes, a substituent capable of both π -donation and π -acception is needed. Computational studies showed that a phosphino substituent would satisfy these properties.¹⁹⁻²¹ Indeed, the phosphorus atom of a phosphinonitrene **III** can not only donate a lone pair of electrons to stabilize the empty orbital of the nitrene (resonance structure **III'**) but as well, can accept a lone pair of

electrons from the nitrogen atom into an empty σ^* -orbital (resonance structure III'', Figure 3.2c). As such, phosphinonitrenes III resemble metallonitrenes I since the P-N bond order can approach three.

Phosphinonitrenes III have been a long-standing target in our group.²²⁻²⁵ As early as 1984, it was shown that compounds IIIa and IIIb, which are generated from either photolysis or thermolysis of azide precursors 1a and 1b, exhibit nitrene-like reactivity. Indeed, when IIIa and IIIb are generated in presence of dimesitylmethylborane 2, adducts 3a and 3b are obtained (Scheme 3.1). The formation of 3 can be explained through the formation of the Lewis acid-nitrene adducts 4 in a first step, followed by the 1,2-migration of a mesityl group in a second step (Scheme 3.2). Despite their encouraging reactivity, compounds IIIa and IIIb are not stable and it was shown that if IIIa is generated in the absence of any trapping agent, dimer 5a is obtained (Scheme 3.1).²³

In 2001, a computational study by Schoeller and Rozhenko²¹ concluded that the most appropriate substituents for stabilizing phosphinonitrenes are strong p-donors and weak s-acceptors. These authors suggested that "substituents, which bear an imino function in the α -position to the phosphorus atom, e.g., the phosphaniminato group" would be the best choice.



Scheme 3.1: Reactivity of transient phosphinonitrenes III



Scheme 3.2: Proposed mechanism for the formation of 3

Based on this prediction and on the analogy between the phosphaniminato and carbene-iminato groups, we decided to explore the synthesis of *bis*-(carbene-iminato)phosphinonitrenes (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3: (a) Analogy between phosphaniminato and carbene-iminato groups and (b) *bis*-(carbene-iminato)phosphinonitrene

B) Synthesis of a stable singlet phosphinonitrene

We first synthesized the azide precursor **6a**. This compound is easily obtained in two steps from the 2-(trimethylsilylimino)-imidazole derivative **7a**.²⁶ In a first step, **7a** is reacted with PCl₃ to afford the phosphenium chloride precursor **8a**, which upon reaction with sodium azide produces the desired azide precursor **6a** in 90% overall yield (Scheme 3.3). **6a** was fully characterized by NMR spectroscopy (¹H, ¹³C, ³¹P). Its ³¹P NMR spectrum displays a singlet at 111.1 ppm, as expected for such a molecule (for comparison, **1a**: 105.3 ppm).²⁴



Scheme 3.3: Synthesis of 6a

At room temperature, **6a** was found to slowly decompose in the solid state but it is stable when stored in solution in benzene or toluene. In line with this observation, thermolysis of **6a**, whether as a solid or in solution, affords complex mixtures and therefore, we investigated the photolysis of **6a**.

A benzene solution of **6a** was irradiated at 254 nm, and the progress of the reaction monitored by ³¹P NMR spectroscopy. After 15 min, a new signal is observed at 15.8 ppm corresponding to a new compound **9a**, along with the signal corresponding to **6a**. The chemical shift of **9a** is indicative of a hypervalent phosphorus center, which is consistent with a 1,1-phosphazene or phosphinonitride structure (resonance forms **III'**

and **III''** respectively, Figure 3.2c). However, prolonged irradiation resulted in increasingly complex mixtures (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4: (a) Irradiation of **6a** followed by ³¹P NMR and (b) ³¹P NMR spectrum after 5 hours of irradiation

Encourage by this result, we turned our attention to azide precursor **6b** (Scheme 3.4). This compound was prepared following the same methodology as **6a**. To our delight, after two hours of irradiation at 254 nm, a much cleaner ³¹P NMR spectrum is observed. The major product **9b** shows as a singlet at 7.7 ppm, once again suggesting a hypervalent phosphorus atom (Figure 3.5 and Scheme 3.4).



Figure 3.5: ³¹P NMR spectra of the crude mixture after 2 hours of irradiation (254nm) of **6b**



Scheme 3.4: Synthesis of nitrene 9b

Evaporation of the solvent under reduced pressure afforded **9b** as a pale yellow solid, which was fully characterized by NMR spectroscopy. As mentioned previously, the ³¹P NMR spectrum shows a singlet at 7.7 ppm, shifted high field in comparison to the azide starting material **6b** (111.0 ppm), indicative of a hypervalent phosphorus center. In order to obtain further insight on the nature of **9b**, the ¹⁵N enriched azide **6b*** (50:50 mixture of $R_2P^{15}N\alpha NN\gamma$ and $R_2PN\alpha N^{15}N\gamma$) was prepared using ¹⁵N enriched sodium azide (NaNN¹⁵N) and then irradiated. For **6b***, the N₇ and N_α give a singlet at 196.6 ppm and a doublet at 95.8 ppm ($J_{PN} = 103$ Hz), respectively. The ¹⁵N enriched **9b*** appears as a doublet with a larger PN coupling constant ($J_{PN} = 144$ Hz), suggesting once again the presence of a PN multiple bond. This doublet is at 266.0 ppm, shifted to lower field in comparison to **6b***, but is strongly shielded compared to that observed for the nitrene nitrogen of N-(2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidy1)nitrene **IIb** (917.0 ppm).¹⁰ The same high field shielding effect is observed when comparing the ¹³C chemical shift of the carbene carbon of phosphinocarbenes (80-150 ppm) with aminocarbenes (200-400 ppm).²⁷

The nitrene nature of **9b** was unequivocally established by a X-Ray diffraction study (Figure 3.6). Single crystals of **9b** were obtained by dissolving the powder in warm hexane, subsequent filtration, and storing the solution at -30 °C. The solid state structure shows that the phosphorus atom is in a planar environment (sum of the angles: 359.9 °), and a very short P-N1 bond length is 1.458(8) Å. For comparison, the P-N2 and P-N3 bond distances are 1.629(8) and 1.618(8) Å, respectively, and PN double bonds are in the range of 1.50-1.60 Å. All these geometric parameters yet again suggest the presence of a phosphorus-nitrogen multiple bond.²⁸

In order to gain further insight into the electronic structure of **9b**, the model compound **9M** (phenyl instead of 2,6-diisopropyl substituents) was studied with quantum chemical methods in collaboration with the group of Prof. Gernot Frenking. At the MO5-2X/TZVPP level of theory, the triplet state features a non-planar phosphorus center, and is 36.0 kcal/mol higher in energy than the singlet state. For the latter, the geometry is in good agreement with experimental findings. The Natural Bond Orbital (NBO) calculations give large negative partial charges for N1 (-1.22 e) and N2, N3 (-0.96 e), while the phosphorous atom carries a large positive charge (+1.92 e). There is a P-N1 σ -bond and an out-of-plane π_{\perp} -bond, which are clearly polarized towards the nitrogen end; the latter possess one σ and one in-plane π_{\parallel} lone-pair orbitals. The Wiberg bond order



Figure 3.6: Solid-state structure of 9b. Hydrogen atoms omitted for clarity. Thermal ellipsoids are drawn at 50 % probability.

values suggest a double bond for P-N1 (2.09) and single bonds for P-N2 and P-N3 (0.85). The NBO results are supported by Energy Decomposition Analysis with Natural Orbitals for Chemical Valence (EDA-NOCV) calculations of nitrene **9M'** (methyl instead of 2,6-diisopropyl substituents), using two different fragmentation schemes. The P-N1 bond was broken (a) into neutral fragments (nitrogen atom in the ²P reference state and the phosphinyl fragment in the matching doublet state) and (b) into charged fragments (N⁻ and the phosphinyl cation in the triplet state). The results show in both cases that the P-N1 covalent bond comes mainly from the σ bond (52% for the neutral fragments, 47% for the charged fragments) and from the π_{\perp} -bond (36% for the neutral fragments, 33% for the charged fragments). The contribution of the in-plane π_{\parallel} interactions is much smaller (8%

for the neutral fragments, 11% for the charged fragments). The calculated molecular orbitals of **9M'** comply with the NBO and EDA results. The HOMO is the in-plane π_{\parallel} lone-pair orbital at N1 while the HOMO-1 is the polarized out-of-plane P-N1 π_{\perp} -orbital. The HOMO-5 is mainly the P-N1 σ -bonding orbital. It is interesting to note that there is generally no 1:1 correspondence between the delocalized canonical molecular orbitals and the localized Lewis structure.



Figure 3.7: (a) HOMO, (b) HOMO-1, (c) HOMO-5 calculated at the MO5-2X/TZVPP level of theory, and (d) Localized Lewis structure suggested from the NBO analysis and Wiberg bond order values

C) Conclusion

More than two decades after the isolation a the first stable carbene, a phosphino carbene²⁹ and almost four decades after the first efforts towards stable nitrenes,⁸⁻¹³ a long-standing target has finally been isolated, namely phosphinonitrene **9b**. This phosphinonitrene features a PN multiple bond as illustrated by its solid-state structure and computational studies. Additionally, phosphinonitrenes are the monomers corresponding to polyphosphazenes, a well-known and widely used family of polymers.^{30,31} The reactivity of phosphinonitrene **9b** was investigated in later efforts in our group.^{32,33}

Chapter 3 has been adapted from materials published in F. Dielmann, O. Back, M. Henry-Ellinger, P. Jerabek, G. Frenking, G. Bertrand, *Science*, **2012**, *337*, 1526-1528. The dissertation author actively participated in this project.

D) Appendix: Experimental section

1) General considerations

All manipulations were performed under an atmosphere of dry argon using standard Schlenk techniques or in an argon filled glove box. Solvents were dried by standard methods and distilled under argon. 2-(trimethylsilylimino)-imidazole 7a was prepared according to the procedure of Tamm²⁶ and 2-(trimethylsilylimino)-imidazoline 7b was prepared following the same procedure but starting from the previously described corresponding imidazolin-2-vlidene.³⁴ All other starting materials were purchased from commercial sources. Phosphorus trichloride (Aldrich) was heated under reflux to expel traces HCl and then distilled under vacuum. Sodium azide (Aldrich) was dried under vacuum and washed thoroughly with anhydrous THF. Azido trimethylsilane (Aldrich) was used without further purification. Deuterated solvents were purchased from Cambridge Isotope Laboratories and distilled over CaH₂. ¹H, ³¹P, and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on Varian Inova 300, 400, 500 or Bruker 300, 400, 500 or JEOL 500 MHz spectrometers at 25 °C. ¹⁵N NMR spectra were recorded on a Bruker Avance 600 spectrometer at 25 °C (60.82 MHz for ¹⁵N). Chemical shifts are given in ppm and are referenced to SiMe₄ (¹H, ¹³C), 85 % H₃PO₄ (³¹P), and NH₃ (¹⁵N). NMR multiplicities are abbreviated as follows: s = singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quadruplet, quint = quintet, sept = septet, oct = octuplet, m = multiplet, br = broad signal.

2) Synthesis of target compounds

Preparation of phosphenium chloride 8a: PCl₃ (0.126 g, 0.91 mmol) was added to a stirred solution of **7a** (1.0 g, 2.1 mmol) in 25 mL dichloromethane at -78 °C. The resulting bright yellow mixture was then allowed to warm up to room temperature and stirred overnight. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the resulting solid was washed with Et₂O (10 mL) and hexanes (2 x 20 mL). Drying the solid under vacuum afforded **8a** as a bright yellow powder in 90 % yield (0.715 g, 0.82 mmol) based on PCl₃. ¹H NMR (CD₃CN, 300 MHz): δ = 7.45 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 4H), 7.19 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 8H), 7.11 (s, 4H), 2.35 (sept, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 8H), 1.09 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 24H), 0.81 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 24H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CD₃CN, 75.5 MHz): δ = 148. (d, *J*_{PC} = 20.2 Hz), 147.2, 132.1, 125.3, 119.8, 29.7, 24.3, 23.5. ³¹P NMR (CD₃CN, 121.5 MHz): δ = 309.3

Preparation of phosphino azide 6a: A Schlenk tube containing **8a** (0.600 g, 0.69 mmol) and NaN₃ (60 mg, 0.92 mmol) was cooled to -78 °C and THF (25 mL) was then slowly added. The mixture was allowed to warm up to room temperature and stirred in the dark overnight. The solvent was then removed under reduced pressure. The resulting colorless solid was dried under vacuum and then was extracted with benzene (2 x 10 mL). Removing of the solvent under reduced pressure afforded **6a** as a colorless solid in quantitative yield (0.604 g, 0.69 mmol). ¹H NMR (C₆D₆, 300 MHz): δ = 7.27 (t, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 4H), 7.08 (br m, 8H), 5.86 (s, 4H), 3.01 (br m, 8H), 1.18 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 24H), 1.14 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 24H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 75.5 MHz): δ = 148.0, 147.6, 145.9 (d, *J*_{PC} = 20.8 Hz), 134.3, 123.8, 123.6, 115.1, 28.9, 24.9, 23.5, 23.2. ³¹P NMR (C₆D₆, 121.5 MHz): δ = 111.1

Characterization of 2-(trimethylsilylimino)-imidazoline 7b: 75 % yield (recrystallization from hexanes). ¹H NMR (C₆D₆, 300 MHz): δ = 7.20 (m, 2 H), 7.12 (m, 4 H), 3.43 (s, 4 H), 3.33 (sept, J = 6.9 Hz, 4 H), 1.41 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 12 H), 1.25 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 12 H), -0.22 (s, 9 H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 75.5 MHz): δ = 148.9, 147.0, 136.8, 128.7, 124.2, 47.4, 28.9, 25.0, 24.4, 3.4

Preparation of phosphenium chloride 8b: PCl₃ (0.42 g, 3.08 mmol) was added to a stirred solution of **7b** (3.00 g, 6.28 mmol) in THF (25 mL) at -78 °C. The mixture was warmed to room temperature and stirred overnight. During this process, a colorless precipitate of **8b** appeared. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the resulting solid was washed with Et₂O (10 mL) and hexanes (2 x 20 mL). Drying the solid under vacuum afforded **8b** as a colorless powder in 91 % yield (2.45 g, 2.80 mmol) based on PCl₃. ¹H NMR (CD₃CN, 300 MHz): δ = 7.37 (t, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 4 H), 7.09 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 8 H), 3.92 (s, 8 H), 2.80 (sept, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 8 H), 1.16 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 24 H), 0.78 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 24 H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CD₃CN, 75.5 MHz): δ = 159.0 (d, *J*_{PC} = 17 Hz), 148.3, 131.7, 131.3, 125.5, 49.8, 29.4, 24.9, 24.4 (d, *J*_{PC} = 3 Hz). ³¹P NMR (CD₃CN, 121.5 MHz): δ = 275.7

Preparation of phosphino azide 6b: A Schlenk tube containing **8b** (1.55 g, 1.77 mmol) and NaN₃ (150 mg, 2.31 mmol) was cooled to -78 °C. THF (25 mL) was slowly added and the mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature with stirring. After stirring in the dark overnight the solvent was removed under reduced pressure, giving a colorless solid, which was dried under vacuum. The residue was extracted with benzene (2 × 10 mL) and filtrated. After removing the benzene under reduced pressure, **6b** was isolated as a colorless solid in quantitative yield (1.56 g, 1.77 mmol). ¹H NMR (C₆D₆, 300 MHz): δ

= 7.24 (t, J = 7.7 Hz, 4 H), 7.06 (m, 8 H), 3.28 (m, 16 H), 1.19 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 36 H), 1.15 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 12 H); ¹³C{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 75.5 MHz): δ = 152.9 (d, J_{PC} = 19 Hz), 148.6, 148.2, 136.0, 128.5, 124.4, 123.8, 49.3, 28.9, 28.7, 25.7, 25.6, 24.3 (d, J_{PC} = 3 Hz), 23.9. ³¹P NMR (C₆D₆, 121.5 MHz): δ = 111.0. ¹⁵N-enriched (50:50 mixture of R₂P¹⁵NNN and R₂PN¹⁵N) **6b*** was prepared using the same procedure. ¹⁵N NMR (C₆D₆): δ = 196.6 (s, 1 N, PNNN), 95.8 (d, J_{PN} = 103 Hz, PNNN). ³¹P NMR (C₆D₆, 121.5 MHz): δ = 111.0 (d, J_{PN} = 103 Hz)

Preparation of nitrene 9b: A stirred solution of **6b** (500 mg, 0.57 mmol) in toluene (20 mL) in a quartz Schlenk tube was irradiated over 2 h at 254 nm. After removing the solvent under reduced pressure, **9b** was obtained as a slightly yellow solid in 92 % yield (445 mg, 0.52 mmol). Single crystals were obtained by dissolving the powder in warm hexane, subsequent filtration, and storing the solution at -30 °C. ¹H NMR (C₆D₆, 300 MHz): δ = 7.22 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 4 H), 7.07 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 8 H), 3.27 (s, 8 H), 3.18 (sept, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 8 H), 1.19 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 24 H), 1.16 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 24 H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (C₆D₆, 300 MHz): δ = 157.1, 148.4, 134.9, 128.9, 124.4, 49.1, 29.0, 25.4, 25.0. ³¹P NMR (C₆D₆, 121.5 MHz): δ = 7.7. ¹⁵N-labeled (R₂P¹⁵N) **9b*** was prepared using the same procedure. ¹⁵N NMR (C₆D₆): δ = 266.0 (d, *J*_{NP} = 144 Hz). ³¹P NMR (C₆D₆, 121.5 MHz):

Compound	9b	
CCDC #	884586	
Empiric Formula	$C_{54}H_{76}N_7P$	
Fw (g/mol)	854.18	
Crystal system	Monoclinic	
Space group	$P2_1/c$	
Radiation, λ (Å)	0.71073	
T (K)	100(2)	
<i>a</i> (Å)	21.117(5)	
<i>b</i> (Å)	12.118(3)	
<i>c</i> (Å)	20.092(5)	
α (deg)	90	
β (deg)	95.920(3)	
γ (deg)	90	
$V(Å^3)$	5114 (2)	
Z	4	
$d_{\text{calcd}} (\text{g} \cdot \text{cm}^{-3})$	1.108	
$R1[I>2\sigma(I)]$	0.1161	
$wR2[I>2\sigma(I)]$	0.2804	
$\operatorname{GOF}(\operatorname{F}^2)$	1.098	

3) Crystallographic data

4) Computational details

Geometry optimizations of the model compound **9M**, which has phenyl groups at the nitrogen atoms instead of 2,6-diisopropyl substituents and **9M'**, which has N-methyl groups were carried out using density functional theory (DFT) at the M05-2X/def2-TZVPP^{35,36} level of theory with the program package Gaussian 09, Revision A.02.³⁷ Natural bond orbital (NBO)³⁸ calculations were performed using the NBO 3.1 program implemented in Gaussian. The Atom-in-molecules (AIM)³⁹ analysis of **9M** were carried out with the program AIMAll⁴⁰ using the M05-2X/def2-TZVPP wavefunction. Energy-decomposition analyses in conjunction with natural orbitals for chemical valency (EDA-NOCV)⁴¹ were carried out for **9M'** at BP86/TZ2P+⁴² at the M05-2X/def2-TZVPP optimized geometry with the ADF(2010.02) program package.⁴³



Figure 3.8: Optimized geometry of **9M**. The calculated values of the bond lengths [Å] and angles [degree] are given in parentheses



Figure 3.9: Plot of the two lowest lying unoccupied molecular orbitals (LUMO) and the six highest occupied molecular orbitals (HOMO) of the nitrene **9M'** which has N-methyl groups

ΔE_{int}	-171.9	
ΔE_{Pauli}	456.1	
ΔE_{elstat}	-154.6 (24.6%)	
ΔE_{orb}	-473.4 (75.4%)	
$\Delta E_{\text{orb. }\sigma}$	-248.1 (52.4%)	$P \rightarrow N$ donation
$\Delta E_{\text{orb. }\pi}$	-37.3 (8.0%)	$P \rightarrow N$ donation; $N \rightarrow P$ backdonation
$\Delta E_{\text{orb. }\pi\perp}$	-170.7 (36.1%)	N-P electron-sharing bond
$\Delta E_{orb, pol}$	-12.7 (2.7%)	Delocalization of nitrogen LPs
$\Delta E_{orb, rest}$	-4.6 (1.0%)	

Table 3.1: EDA-NOCV results in kcal/mol for **9M'**, which has N-methyl groups (BP86/TZ2P+//M05-2X/TZVPP). Occupation of the fragments: N: doublet $(s^2 p_{\sigma}^0 p_{\pi \perp} p_{\pi} ||^2)$; P(N=NHC^{Me})₂: doublet

Table 3.2: EDA-NOCV results in kcal/mol for **9M'**, which has N-methyl groups (BP86/TZ2P+//M05-2X/TZVPP). Occupation of the fragments: N⁻: triplet $(s^2 p_{\circ}^{-1} p_{\pi \perp}^{-1} p_{s} \|^2)$; [P(N=NHC^{Me})₂]⁻: triplet

ΔE_{int}	-257.1	
ΔE_{Pauli}	554.4	
ΔE_{elstat}	-370.9 (45.7%)	
ΔE_{orb}	-440.6 (54.3%)	
$\Delta E_{\text{orb. }\sigma}$	-206.7 (46.9%)	N-P electron-sharing bond
$\Delta E_{\text{orb},\pi}$	-48.5 (11.0%)	$P \rightarrow N$ donation; $N \rightarrow P$ backdonation
$\Delta E_{\text{orb. }\pi\perp}$	-146.5 (33.3%)	N-P electron-sharing bond
$\Delta E_{orb, pol}$	-26.7 (6.1%)	Delocalization of nitrogen LPs
$\Delta E_{orb, rest}$	-12.2 (2.8%)	

Table 3.3: Coordinates [Å] and energies [Hartrees] at M05-2X/def2-TZVPP of the calculated species 9M

9M. E = -1885.08536091

Р	0.000014 0.000055 0.717168
Ν	0.000030 0.000147 2.209159
Ν	-1.161215 0.540240 -0.305211
Ν	1.161239 -0.540226 -0.305169
Ν	-3.118453 1.781040 -0.633261
Ν	-1.515313 2.727911 0.580415
Ν	1.515311 -2.727876 0.580554
Ν	3.118443 -1.781074 -0.633191
С	-1.862095 1.596422 -0.110309
С	-3.712409 3.003940 -0.098333
Η	-4.347710 2.762900 0.754979
Η	-4.302395 3.520345 -0.847636
С	-2.480480 3.792603 0.326923
Η	-2.119608 4.438292 -0.475803
Η	-2.647797 4.389914 1.216850
С	1.862110 -1.596402 -0.110197
С	2.480462 -3.792587 0.327070
Η	2.119577 -4.438284 -0.475646
Η	2.647775 -4.389887 1.217005
С	3.712395 -3.003953 -0.098216
Η	4.347701 -2.762883 0.755084
Η	4.302374 -3.520392 -0.847503
С	-3.974348 0.708959 -0.989984
С	-4.026225 -0.460914 -0.242575
С	-4.933477 -1.448683 -0.590599
Η	-4.976618 -2.353914 -0.004762
С	-5.789017 -1.277522 -1.668742
Η	-6.495570 -2.050294 -1.928619
С	-5.732118 -0.107935 -2.410890
Η	-6.388731 0.032407 -3.255423
С	-4.823445 0.881761 -2.074792
С	-0.157885 3.085457 0.813850
С	0.737786 3.145981 -0.244386
С	2.045054 3.543283 -0.010762

Table 3.4: Coordinates [Å] and energies [Hartrees] at M05-2X/def2-TZVPP of the calculated species 9M'

9M'. E = -1117.90151304

Р	0.000007 -0.552570 -0.000035
Ν	0.000018 -2.048222 0.000005
Ν	-1.252049 0.482907 -0.112846
Ν	1.252044 0.482930 0.112770
Ν	-3.441671 1.086171 -0.570114
Ν	-3.180884 -0.743114 0.655428
Ν	3.180891 -0.743146 -0.655360
Ν	3.441660 1.086218 0.570071
С	-2.517722 0.243892 -0.004307
С	-4.756934 0.482398 -0.511474
Η	-4.961145 -0.084993 -1.424406
Η	-5.532702 1.230489 -0.377212
С	-4.602993 -0.442826 0.687707
Η	-4.861244 0.070922 1.617799
Η	-5.192923 -1.350481 0.607071
С	2.517720 0.243910 0.004289
С	4.603003 -0.442870 -0.687623
Η	4.861280 0.070813 -1.617744
Η	5.192925 -1.350524 -0.606911

С	4.756920 0.482433 0.511501
Η	4.961106 -0.084899 1.424475
Η	5.532696 1.230511 0.377209
С	3.090273 1.935163 1.680810
Η	2.071796 2.276971 1.540964
Η	3.160439 1.397300 2.629663
Η	3.763464 2.788033 1.706687
С	2.613081 -1.501189 -1.752876
Η	3.338975 -2.256964 -2.039506
Η	1.698962 -1.988990 -1.427313
Н	2.417185 -0.855674 -2.612116
С	-3.090307 1.935044 -1.680915
Н	-3.763496 2.787915 -1.706831
Η	-2.071826 2.276858 -1.541113
Н	-3.160496 1.397122 -2.629733
С	-2.613059 -1.501089 1.752984
Η	-2.417145 -0.855519 2.612180
Η	-3.338953 -2.256840 2.039676
Η	-1.698951 -1.988920 1.427438

E) References

- (1) Wentrup, C. Acc. Chem. Res. 2011, 44, 393–404.
- (2) Scriven, E. *Azides and nitrenes: reactivity and utility*; Academic Press, Inc.: Orlando, Florida, 1984.
- (3) Eikey, R. A.; Abu-Omar, M. M. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2003, 243, 83–124.
- (4) MacKay, B. A.; Fryzuk, M. D. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 385–401.
- (5) Berry, J. F. Comments Inorg. Chem. 2009, 30, 28–66.
- (6) Hayton, T. W. *Dalton Trans.* **2010**, *39*, 1145–1158.
- (7) Saouma, C. T.; Peters, J. C. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2011**, *255*, 920–937.
- (8) Hinsberg, W. D.; Dervan, P. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 1608–1610.
- (9) Schultz, P. G.; Dervan, P. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 878–880.
- (10) Dervan, P. B.; Squillacote, M. E.; Lahti, P. M.; Sylwester, A. P.; Roberts, J. D. J. *Am. Chem. Soc.* **1981**, *103*, 1120–1122.
- (11) Schultz, P. G.; Dervan, P. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 1563–1564.
- (12) Hinsberg, W. D.; Schultz, P. G.; Schultz, P. G.; Dervan, P. B.; Dervan, P. B. J. *Am. Chem. Soc.* **1982**, *104*, 766–773.
- (13) McIntyre, D. K.; Dervan, P. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1982**, 104, 6466–6468.
- (14) Arduengo, A. J.; Harlow, R. L.; Kline, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 361– 363.
- (15) Lavallo, V.; Mafhouz, J.; Canac, Y.; Donnadieu, B.; Schoeller, W. W.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 8670–8671.
- (16) Lavallo, V.; Canac, Y.; Präsang, C.; Donnadieu, B.; Bertrand, G. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 5705–5709.
- (17) Bourissou, D.; Guerret, O.; Gabbai, F. P.; Bertrand, G. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 39–91.
- (18) Igau, A.; Grutzmacher, H.; Baceiredo, A.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, *110*, 6463–6466.

- (19) Ahlrichs, R.; Schiffer, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 6494–6498.
- (20) Hoffmann, M. R.; Kuhler, K. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 8029.
- (21) Schoeller, W.; Rozhenko, AB. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 845–850.
- (22) Sicard, G.; Baceiredo, A.; Bertrand, G.; Majoral, J. P. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **1984**, 23, 459–460.
- (23) Baceiredo, A.; Bertrand, G.; Majoral, J. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 6088–6089.
- (24) Baceiredo, A.; Bertrand, G.; Majoral, J. P.; Elanba, F.; Manuel, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 3945–3949.
- (25) Alcaraz, G.; Baceiredo, A.; Dahan, F.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 1225–1229.
- (26) Tamm, M.; Randoll, S.; Herdtweck, E.; Kleigrewe, N. Dalton Trans. 2006, 459.
- (27) Tapu, D.; Dixon, D. A.; Roe, C. Chem. Rev. 2009, 109, 3385–3407.
- (28) Niecke, E. *Multiple Bonds and Low Coordination in Phosphorus Chemistry*; Georg Thieme: Stuttgart, 1990; pp. 293–320.
- (29) Baceiredo, A.; Bertrand, G.; Sicard, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 4781–4783.
- (30) Amin, A. M.; Wang, L.; Wang, J.; Yu, H.; Huo, J.; Gao, J.; Xiao, A. Des. Monomers Polym. 2009, 12, 357–375.
- (31) Allcock, H. R.; Morozowich, N. L. Polym. Chem. 2012, 3, 578.
- (32) Dielmann, F.; Moore, C. E.; Rheingold, A. L.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2013**, *135*, 14071–14073.
- (33) Dielmann, F.; Andrada, D. M.; Frenking, G.; Bertrand, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2014**, *136*, 3800–3802.
- (34) Arduengo, A. J., III; Krafczyk, R.; Schmutzler, R. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 14523–14534.
- (35) Zhao, Y.; Schultz, N. E.; Truhlar, D. G. J. Chem. Theory Comput. 2006, 2, 364–382.
- (36) Weigend, F.; Ahlrichs, R. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2005, 7, 3297–3305.

(37) Frisch, M. J.; Trucks, G. W.; Schlegel, H. B.; Scuseria, G. E.; Robb, M. A.; Cheeseman, J. R.; Scalmani, G.; Barone, V.; Mennucci, B.; Petersson, G. A.; Nakatsuji, H.; Caricato, M.; Li, X.; Hratchian, H. P.; Izmaylov, A. F.; Bloino, J.; Zheng, G.; Sonnenberg, J. L.; Hada, M.; Ehara, M.; Toyota, K.; Fukuda, R.; Hasegawa, J.; Ishida, M.; Nakajima, T.; Honda, Y.; Kitao, O.; Nakai, H.; Vreven, T.; Montgomery Jr., J. A.; Peralta, J. E.; Ogliaro, F.; Bearpark, M.; Heyd, J. J.; Brothers, E.; Kudin, K. N.; Staroverov, V. N.; Kobayashi, R.; Normand, J.; Raghavachari, K.; Rendell, A.; Burant, J. C.; Iyengar, S. S.; Tomasi, J.; Cossi, M.; Rega, N.; Millam, J. M.; Klene, M.; Knox, J. E.; Cross, J. B.; Bakken, V.; Adamo, C.; Jaramillo, J.; Gomperts, R.; Stratmann, R. E.; Yazyev, O.; Austin, A. J.; Cammi, R.; Pomelli, C.; Ochterski, J. W.; Martin, R. L.; Morokuma, K.; Zakrzewski, V. G.; Voth, G. A.; Salvador, P.; Dannenberg, J. J.; Dapprich, S.; Daniels, A. D.; Farkas, O.; Foresman, J. B.; Ortiz, J. V.; Cioslowski, J.; Fox, D. J. *Gaussian 09, Revision A. 02*; Gaussian, Inc.: Wallingford CT, 2009.

- (38) Reed, A. E.; Curtiss, L. A.; Weinhold, F. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 899–926.
- (39) Bader, R. F. W. Atoms in Molecules-A Quantum Theory; Oxford University Press: Oxford, 1990.
- (40) AIMAll (http://www.aim.tkgristmill.com).
- (41) Mitoraj, M. P.; Michalak, A.; Ziegler, T. J. Chem. Theory Comput. 2009, 5, 962– 975.
- (42) Snijders, J. G.; Vernooijs, P.; Baerends, E. J. Atomic Data and Nuclear Data ... 1981, 26, 483–509.
- (43) ADF2010.02, SCM, Theoretical Chemistry, Vrije Universiteit, Amsterdam, http://www.scm.com.

CONCLUSION

We have developed a new experimental method to assess the electronic properties of carbenes based on the ³¹P NMR chemical shifts of carbene-phosphinidene adducts. Strongly π -accepting carbenes will form adducts that are best described as phosphaalkenes, and exhibit a low-field ³¹P chemical shift, whereas weakly π -accepting carbenes form adducts with a strongly polarized carbene-phosphorus P-C bond, in which the phosphorus atom presents a significant negative charge, resulting in high-field ³¹P chemical shifts. We also designed and applied a versatile and easy synthesis of such compounds involving free carbenes and dichlorophenylphosphine. This new probe is more spread out and sensitive than traditional probes relying on infrared spectroscopy. In addition, this new probe is insensitive to the influence of the σ -donating properties of carbenes. Consequently, the combination of this new metric with other methods that are indicative of the overall donating properties of carbenes, such as the Tolman Electronic Parameter, allows for the deconvolution of σ -donating and π -accepting properties. Finally, we propose that this concept could be extended to different ligands on the condition that additional computational information confirms the validity of the analogy. An overview of the different class of carbenes according to this new probe is provided in Figure C1.



Figure C1: Different π -accepting properties of carbenes according to the ³¹P NMR chemical shift of their respective carbene-phosphinidene adducts

With this new scale in mind, we attempted to extend the scope of known stable carbenes. We synthesized precursors of strongly electrophilic carbenes, of carbenes with remote electronic stabilization and of carbenes with potential use as organic reducing agents. Unfortunately, all attempts at generating these new carbenes failed to lead results. We proposed possible explanations to these results and potential routes to circumvent them. Some of these are currently under investigation in our group.

In the last part of this thesis, we applied our knowledge of carbene chemistry to their nitrogen analogs, namely nitrenes. More than two decades after the isolation a the first stable carbene, a phosphino carbene, and almost four decades after the first efforts towards stable nitrenes, we report the synthesis of a stable and crystalline representative of these long-sought targets, namely a phosphinonitrene. The bonding situation of this phosphinonitrene was studied by experimental and computational methods. We showed that this compound features a P-N bond with a significant multiple bond character. The isolation of this nitrene paved the path for the investigation of phosphinonitrenes properties as their reactivity and ability to act as a ligand in metal complexes was studied in subsequent efforts in our group.